
      
COMBINED SPECIAL MEETING / WORK SESSION AGENDACOMBINED SPECIAL MEETING / WORK SESSION AGENDA  

 
SPECIAL MEETING / WORK SESSIONSPECIAL MEETING / WORK SESSION
TUESDAYTUESDAY
MAY 14, 2024MAY 14, 2024
 

 COUNCIL CHAMBERSCOUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

             3:00 P.M.             3:00 P.M.
 

All City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's websiteAll City Council Meetings are live streamed on the city's website
((https://www.flagstaffaz.gov/1461/Streaming-City-Council-Meetingshttps://www.flagstaffaz.gov/1461/Streaming-City-Council-Meetings))  

***PUBLIC COMMENT******PUBLIC COMMENT***  

Verbal public comments not related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be provided during the
"Open Call to the Public" at the beginning and end of the meeting and may only be provided in person. 

Verbal public comments related to items appearing on the posted agenda may be given in person or online
and will be taken at the time the item is discussed. 

To provide online verbal comment on an item that appears on the posted agenda, use the link below. 

ONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENTONLINE VERBAL PUBLIC COMMENT  

Written comments may be submitted to publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov. All comments submitted via email
will be considered written comments and will be documented in the record as such.

      
1. Call to OrderCall to Order

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSIONNOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
  
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this special meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for discussion and consultation with the City's attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

  

 

2. Roll CallRoll Call
 
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance through other technological means.
 
MAYOR DAGGETT
VICE MAYOR ASLAN
COUNCILMEMBER HARRIS
COUNCILMEMBER HOUSE

COUNCILMEMBER MATTHEWS
COUNCILMEMBER MCCARTHY
COUNCILMEMBER SWEET

  

 

3. Pledge of Allegiance, Mission Statement, and Land AcknowledgementPledge of Allegiance, Mission Statement, and Land Acknowledgement
 

MISSION STATEMENTMISSION STATEMENT 
 

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life for all.

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTLAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

The Flagstaff City Council humbly acknowledges the ancestral homelands of this area's Indigenous
nations and original stewards. These lands, still inhabited by Native descendants, border mountains
sacred to Indigenous peoples. We honor them, their legacies, their traditions, and their continued
contributions. We celebrate their past, present, and future generations who will forever know this
place as home.

  

 

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/1461/Streaming-City-Council-Meetings
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_OGU5OTBmZTUtMzZhMS00Zjk4LWI1NjItMjgxMWMwYmE3NmMy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225da727b9-fb88-48b4-aa07-2a40088a046d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22092ff328-7f9a-4a81-ae2d-fba9ff4ca8ad%22%7d
mailto:publiccomment@flagstaffaz.gov


4. Review of Draft Agenda for the May 21, 2024 City Council MeetingReview of Draft Agenda for the May 21, 2024 City Council Meeting

Citizens wishing to speak on agenda items not specifically called out by the City Council may submit a
speaker card for their items of interest to the recording clerk.

  

 

5. Open Call to the PublicOpen Call to the Public

Open Call to the Public enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
prepared agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. Open Call to the Public appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at the
end. The total time allotted for the first Open Call to the Public is 30 minutes; any additional comments
will be held until the second Open Call to the Public.

If you wish to address the Council in person at today's meeting, please complete a comment card and
submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be called when it is your turn to
speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments
made during Open Call to the Public and Public Comment. Please limit your remarks to three minutes
per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons
present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who may have no more
than fifteen minutes to speak.

  

 

6. Recognition of Accomplishments in STEMRecognition of Accomplishments in STEM   

 

7. April Work AnniversariesApril Work Anniversaries
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

Recognition of employees celebrating work anniversaries in April
 

8. Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract: Construction Contract with Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC
for well site modification and drilling services.
 

 STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:
 

1. Approve the Construction Contract with Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC in and amount not to exceed
$650,000; and

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

 

9. AdjournmentAdjournment   

 

WORK SESSIONWORK SESSION   

 

1. Call to OrderCall to Order

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSIONNOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
  
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this work session, the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which
will not be open to the public, for discussion and consultation with the City's attorneys for legal advice
on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

  

 

2. City Manager ReportCity Manager Report
 Information Only
 



3. Mountain Line Today and Beyond Updates and Transit Tax DiscussionMountain Line Today and Beyond Updates and Transit Tax Discussion
 Discussion only for the Mountain Line updates.   

Council support and direction regarding the November 2024 General Election for a Transit Tax
increase and extension. 

 

4. FY22-23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Projects ReportFY22-23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Projects Report
 This is an informational update only.
 

5. Open Call to the PublicOpen Call to the Public   

 

6. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda itemInformational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager; future agenda item
requestsrequests

  

 

7. AdjournmentAdjournment   

 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on                        ,
at                    a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this                   day of                                          , 2024.

__________________________________________
Stacy Saltzburg, MMC, City Clerk 
                                            

THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF ENDEAVORS TO MAKE ALL PUBLIC MEETINGS ACCESSIBLE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES. With 48-hour advance notice, reasonable accommodations
will be made upon request for persons with disabilities or non-English speaking residents. Please call the City Clerk (928) 213-2076 or email at stacy.saltzburg@flagstaffaz.gov to request an
accommodation to participate in this public meeting. 

NOTICE TO PARENTS AND LEGAL GUARDIANS: Parents and legal guardians have the right to consent before the City of Flagstaff makes a video or voice recording of a minor child,
pursuant to A.R.S. § 1-602(A)(9). The Flagstaff City Council meetings are live-streamed and recorded and may be viewed on the City of Flagstaff's website. If you permit your child to
attend/participate in a televised Council meeting, a recording will be made. You may exercise your right not to consent by not allowing your child to attend/participate in the meeting.



   7.  7.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacy Saltzburg, City Clerk
Date:Date: 05/09/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 05/14/2024

TITLETITLE
April Work AnniversariesApril Work Anniversaries
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Recognition of employees celebrating work anniversaries in April

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:

Information:Information:

Attachments:Attachments: Presentation



April Employee Work Anniversaries!



First Year Anniversaries

• Riley Rushton, Recreation 
Assistant

• David Becker, Equipment 
Operator I

• Hannah Sterne, Police 
Emergency Communications 
Specialist

• Patrick Willaert, Police 
Emergency Communications 
Specialist

• Andrew Moore, Magistrate
• Izabel Madaleno, Creative 

Services Specialist
• Emalee Walker, Recreation 

Assistant



First Year Anniversaries
• Caden Tedeschi, Recreation 

Leader I
• Miley McQuivey, Library Teen 

Artist
• Quintin Padilla, Parks 

Maintenance Worker
• Matthew Hayes, Police 

Officer

• Haley Ptacek, Police 
Emergency Communications 
Specialist

• Silas Spencer, Firefighter 
Paramedic

• Jacob Sansone, Firefighter
• Nayilla Nunez Coronado, 

Housing Services Specialist



First Year Anniversaries

• Yngwie Tsosie, Recreation 
Assistant

• Jacqueline Gutierrez, 
Recreation Assistant

• Brandon Saltzburg, 
Recreation Assistant



Five Year Anniversaries

Jessica Archer 
Librarian



Five Year Anniversaries

Luke Daulton
Firefighter Paramedic



Five Year Anniversaries

Brandon Roberts
Firefighter



Five Year Anniversaries

Richard Tutwiler
Deputy Library Director



Five Year Anniversaries

Eric Bachstein
Equipment Operator II



Ten Year Anniversaries

Eric Tomperi
Police Officer



Five Year Anniversaries

Kyle Benedict
Firefighter



Ten Year Anniversaries

Kevin Anderson
Equipment Operator III



Twenty-Five Year Anniversaries

“Battalion Chief Dave Wilson is a rock steady leader 
for us at the FFD.  In addition to his responsibility 
commanding a shift, he is one of our regional 
Coaches in support of our fire officer leadership 
program and our Special Operations chief with 
management responsibilities supporting our 
Technical Rescue and Hazardous Materials 
teams.  We are lucky to have Dave as one of our 
leaders.”



Thirty Year Anniversaries
Mike Brehm started working for the City of Flagstaff in 
April 1994. Since then, he has been part of every 
technology advancement at the libraries. He supports 
the public computer labs as well as the staff computing 
environment. His recent accomplishments include 
migrating the library core system to Koha, a new open-
source ILS. This involved not only migrating the library 
catalog and user databases, but also moving the ILS into 
the cloud. Similarly, Mike migrated the Library’s instance 
of Microsoft365 (including Outlook). Again, a new system 
in the cloud. Mike has also supported various grant-
funded technology projects. His overall success is based 
on his technology skills, but just as importantly on his 
people skills. Mike's broad experience makes him a 
valuable asset for the Library IT Team.  The downtown 
Flagstaff library was the first public library in Arizona to 
offer internet access to the public (circa 1994). 



   8.  8.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Erin Young, Water Resources Manager
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Shannon Jones

Date:Date: 05/07/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 05/14/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Contract:Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Construction Contract with Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC for well
site modification and drilling services.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:STAFF RECOMMENDED ACTION:

1. Approve the Construction Contract with Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC in and amount not to exceed
$650,000; and

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The Construction Contract award not to exceed $650,000 to Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC is proposed to
complete three well sites at Red Gap Ranch currently equipped as surface casing to 40 feet below land
surface. This contract will bring these well sites into conformance with six other well sites completed in 2011.

Financial Impact:Financial Impact:
This project was not budgeted for in the FY2023-24 budget and we recommend reallocated budget
appropriation from the Rio de Flag Water Relocations project 202-08-370-3156-0 with funding of
$1,750,000.00 in FY2023-24 as that funding is not needed until a future budget year. Adjustments to the
Drinking Water 5-year plan will be made to balance the plan including adjustments to the Gap Ranch
Hydrogeologic Study in FY2024-25 and the Red Gap Ranch Water Quality Study in FY2025-26.

Policy Impact:Policy Impact:
An award of this Construction Contract supports the following policies:

Water Services Strategic Plan Objective 6: Ensure Adequate Water Resources & Plan for Climate
Change
Council-adopted Water Policies, 2014: H3 Water Rights Acquisition

Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:Previous Council Decision or Community Discussion:
Yes. The City Council approved a similar construction contract for six well sites completed in 2011 at Red
Gap Ranch.

Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:Options and Alternatives to Recommended Action:

1. Approve the Construction Contract award as recommended. Approval will allow work to move forward
immediately; or

2. Reject the Construction Contract. This action would delay the project.



Background and History:Background and History:
Multiple drilling contractors were contacted and only Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC had the availability to meet
the City's needed time frame for completion. After reviewing the details and the due diligence taken to solicit
multiple drillers, the Purchasing Director determined this procurement method to be Competition
Impracticable.

Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:Connection to PBB Priorities and Objectives:
Strengthen Flagstaff's resilience to climate change impacts on built, natural, economic, health, and social
systems.

Connection to Regional Plan:Connection to Regional Plan:
Policy WR.2.2. Maintain and develop facilities to provide reliable, safe, and cost-effective water, wastewater,
and reclaimed water services.

Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:Connection to Carbon Neutrality Plan:
Prepare Flagstaff's communities, systems, and resources to be more resilient to climate change impacts.

Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:Connection to 10-Year Housing Plan:
None

Attachments:Attachments: Contract



1 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT CG2024-171 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona 
and 

Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC 

This Construction Contract (“Contract”) is made and entered into this ____ day of   _____, 
2024, by and between the City of Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the state of Arizona (“Owner”), 
and Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company (“Contractor”). 
Owner and Contractor may be referred to each individually as a “Party” and collectively as the 
“Parties.” 

RECITALS 

A. Owner desires to obtain construction services (“Services”); and 

B. Contractor has available and offers to provide personnel and materials necessary to 
accomplish the work and complete the Project as described in the Scope of Work within the required 
time in accordance with the calendar days included in this Contract. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Owner and Contractor agree as follows: 

1. Scope of Work. Contractor shall furnish any and all labor, materials, equipment,
transportation, utilities, services, and facilities for the WELL SITE MODIFICATION AND 
DRILLING SERVICES (“Project”). The Project scope is specific to the attached Technical 
Specifications (“Exhibit A”) and Bid Schedule (“Exhibit B”). Contractor shall construct the Project 
for the Owner in a good, workmanlike and substantial manner and to the satisfaction of the Owner 
through its engineers and under the direction and supervision of the Water Services Director and his 
properly authorized agents (“Director”), including but not limited to project managers and/or 
hydrologists. Contractor’s work shall be strictly pursuant to and in conformity with the Contract. 

1.1 A Pre-Construction Conference will be held with the successful Contractor after the Notice 
of Award is issued. The date and time of the Conference will be agreed upon between 
Contractor and the Director at a location identified by the Owner. The purpose of the 
Conference is to outline specific Project items and procedures that the Owner feels require 
special attention on the part of Contractor. Contractor may also present any variations in 
procedures to improve the workability of the Project, reduce the cost, or reduce inconvenience 
to the public. 

2. Contract; Ownership of Work. Contractor shall furnish and deliver all of the materials and
perform all of the work in accordance with this Contract. All Technical Specifications; Bid Schedule; 
the City of Flagstaff Engineering Design and Construction Standards and Specifications; the latest 
version of the Maricopa Association of Governments (“MAG”) Specifications for Public Works 
Construction and City Revisions of MAG Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction; 
and any state or federal standards that may be referenced on the Technical Specifications or Bid 
Schedule, are incorporated in this Contract by reference, plans, and associated documents. All 
provisions of the Performance Bond, Payment Bond, Certificates of Insurance, Addenda, Change 
Orders, and Field Orders, if any, are hereby incorporated into this Contract. All materials, work, 



 
 

 2  

specifications, and plans shall be the property of the Owner. The Parties have agreed that liquidated 
damages will not be attributed to this Contract under the assumption that the Scope of Work will be 
completed within the forty (40) day period. 

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference and are expressly made a part of this 
Contract: 

2.1 Technical Specifications             Exhibit A 

2.2 Bid Schedule Exhibit B 

2.2 Revisions of MAG Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction       Exhibit C 
 (“Flagstaff Addendum to MAG”) 

3. Payments. In consideration of the faithful performance of the work described in this Contract, 
the Owner shall pay an amount not to exceed Total Contract Amount of SIX HUNDRED THIRTY-
THREE THOUSAND TWENTY-TWO DOLLARS AND NO CENTS ($633,022.00) to 
Contractor for work and materials provided in accordance with the exhibits attached hereto, which 
amount includes all federal, state, and local taxes, as applicable. This amount shall be payable through 
monthly progress payments, subject to the following conditions: 

3.1 Contractor shall promptly submit to the Owner all proper invoices necessary for the 
determination of the prices of labor and materials; 

3.2 The Director shall have the right to finally determine the amount due to Contractor; 

3.3 As authorized by A.R.S. § 34-221, progress payments shall be made in the amount of ninety 
percent (90%) of the value of labor and materials incorporated in the work, based on the sum of the 
Contract prices of labor and material, and of materials stored at the worksite, on the basis of 
substantiating paid invoices, as estimated by the Owner, less the aggregate of all previous payments, 
until the work performed under this Contract is fifty percent (50%) complete. When and after such 
work is fifty (50%) complete, the ten percent (10%) of value previously retained may be reduced to 
five percent (5%) of value completed if Contractor is making satisfactory progress as determined by 
the Owner, and providing that there is no specific cause or claim requiring a greater amount to be 
retained. If at any time the Owner determines that satisfactory progress is not being made, the ten 
percent (10%) retention shall be reinstated for all subsequent progress payments made under this 
Contract; 

3.4 Contractor agrees that title to materials incorporated in the work, and stored at the site, shall 
vest with the Owner upon receipt of the corresponding progress payment; 

3.5 The remainder of the Contract price, after deducting all such monthly payments and any 
retention, shall be paid within sixty (60) days after final acceptance of completed work by the Owner. 
The release of retention or alternate surety shall be made following the Owner’s receipt and 
acceptance of: Contractor’s Affidavit Regarding Settlement of Claims, Affidavit of Payment, Consent 
of Surety for Final Payment, and Unconditional Full and Final lien waivers from all subcontractors 
and suppliers who have filed an Arizona Preliminary Twenty Day Lien Notice in accordance with 
A.R.S. §§ 33-992.01 and 33-992.02. 



 
 

 3  

4. Time of Completion. Contractor agrees to complete all work as described in this Contract 
within FORTY (40) CALENDAR DAYS from the date of the Owner’s Notice to Proceed, free of 
all liens, claims, and demands of any kind for materials, equipment, supplies, services, labor, taxes, 
and damages to property or persons, in the manner and under the conditions specified within the time 
or times specified in this Contract. 

5. Performance of Work. All work covered by this Contract shall be done in accordance with 
the latest and best accepted practices of the trades involved. The Contractor shall use only skilled 
craftsmen experienced in their respective trades to prepare the materials and to perform the work. 

6. Acceptance of Work; Non-Waiver. No failure of the Owner during the progress of the work 
to discover or reject materials or work not in accordance with this Contract shall be deemed an 
acceptance of, or a waiver of, defects in work or materials. No payment shall be construed to be an 
acceptance of work or materials which are not strictly in accordance with the Contract. 

7. Delay of Work. Any delay in the performance of this Contract due to strikes, lockouts, fires, 
or other unavoidable casualties beyond the control of Contractor and not caused by any wrongful act 
or negligence of Contractor shall entitle Contractor to an extension of time equal to the delay so 
caused. Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing specifying such cause within twenty-four (24) 
hours after its occurrence. In the event such delay is caused by strikes, lockouts, or inability to obtain 
workmen for any other cause, the Owner shall have the right but shall not be obligated to complete 
the work on the same basis as is provided for in this Contract. 

8. Failure to Complete Project in Timely Manner. If Contractor fails or refuses to execute 
this Contract within the time specified within this Contract, or such additional time as may be allowed, 
the proceeds of Contractor’s performance guaranty shall become subject to deposit into the Treasury 
of the municipality as monies available to compensate the Owner for damages as provided by A.R.S. 
§ 34-201 for the delay in the performance of work under this Contract, and the necessity of accepting 
a higher or less desirable bid from such failure or refusal to perform this Contract as required. If 
Contractor has submitted a certified check or cashier’s check as a performance guaranty, the check 
shall be returned after the completion of this Contract. 

9. Labor Demonstration. It is understood that the work covered by this Contract is for the 
Owner’s business purposes and that any unfavorable publicity or demonstrations in connection with 
the work will have a negative effect upon the Owner. If Contractor’s actions in performance of the 
Contract result in any public demonstration on behalf of the laborers or organized labor in the vicinity 
of the Owner’s premises, whether such demonstration is in the form of picketing, posting of placards 
or signs, violence, threats of violence, or in any other form, which in the Owner’s judgment might 
convey to the public the impression that the Owner or the Contractor or any subcontractor is unfair to 
laborers or to organized labor, the Owner shall have the right to terminate this Contract immediately, 
unless the Contractor shall have caused such demonstration to be discontinued within two (2) days 
after request of the Owner to do so.  In the event any such demonstration is attended by violence, the 
Owner may fix lesser time within which a discontinuance shall be accomplished. In the event of 
Contract termination, Contractor agrees to remove from the Premises within twenty-four (24) hours 
of termination all machinery, tools, and equipment belonging to it or to its subcontractors.  All 
obligations or liabilities of the Owner to Contractor shall be discharged by such termination, except 
the obligation to pay to Contractor a portion of the Contract price representing the value based upon 



 
 

 4  

the Contract prices of labor and materials incorporated in the work as established by the Owner, less 
the aggregate of all previous payments, but subject to all of the conditions pertaining to payments 
generally. 

10. Material Storage. During the progress of the work, the Contractor shall arrange for office 
facilities and for the orderly storage of materials and equipment. Contractor shall erect any temporary 
structures required for the work at his or her own expense. Contractor shall at all times keep the 
premises reasonably free from debris and in a condition which will not increase fire hazards. Upon 
completion of the work, Contractor shall remove all temporary buildings and facilities and all 
equipment, surplus materials, and supplies belonging to Contractor. Contractor shall leave the 
Premises in good order, clean, and ready to use by the Owner. The establishment of any temporary 
construction yard, material storage area, or staging area to be located within City of Flagstaff limits 
and outside the public right-of-way or Project limits generally requires a Temporary Use Permit. (See 
Exhibit C, Section 107.2.1.). 

11. Maintenance During Winter Suspension of Work. 

11.1 A “Winter Shutdown” is the period of time typically including December through March 
during which no work will be performed by any person or entity (including but not limited to 
Contractor) on the Project and Contractor shall shutdown, properly insulate, and shelter the Project 
in a safe and workmanlike manner pursuant to local, state, and federal laws. Although December 
through March is typically the time frame, the Owner reserves the right to initiate and terminate a 
Winter Shutdown at the Owner’s sole discretion in the event of adverse weather conditions. A 
Winter Shutdown may be declared by the Owner despite delays, for any reason, on the Project. 
The Owner retains the right to declare a Winter Shutdown. If work has been suspended due to winter 
weather, Contractor shall be responsible for maintenance and protection of the improvements and of 
partially completed portions of the work until final acceptance of the Project. Winter Shutdown shall 
be by field order, change order, or original contract. If repairs and/or maintenance are needed during 
the Winter Shutdown, Contractor is required to perform the repairs and/or maintenance within twenty-
four (24) hours of notification from the Owner. If the needed repairs and/or maintenance are not 
addressed within the time frame, the Owner will accomplish the work and deduct the cost from monies 
due or that become due to Contractor. 

11.2 The Owner shall provide snow removal operations on active traffic lanes only during the 
Winter Shutdown. All other snow removal and maintenance operations shall be the responsibility of 
Contractor during the Winter Shutdown. All costs associated with snow removal and proper disposal 
shall be considered incidental to the work including repair of temporary surface improvements due to 
normal wear and snow removal operations during the Winter Shutdown. 

12. Assignment. Contractor shall not assign this Contract, in whole or in part, without the prior 
written consent of the Owner, and no delegation of any duty of Contractor shall be made without prior 
written consent of the Owner. The Owner shall not unreasonably withhold consent to such 
assignment. Contractor agrees that any assignment agreement between Contractor and the assignee 
shall include and subject to the assignee all obligations, terms, and conditions of this Contract and 
that Contractor shall also remain liable under all obligations, terms, and conditions of this Contract. 

  



5 

13. Notices. Any notices or demands required to be given, pursuant to the terms of this
Contract, may be given to the other Party in writing, delivered in person, sent by facsimile 
transmission, emailed, deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, or deposited with any 
commercial air courier or express service at the addresses set forth below, or to such other address 
as the Parties may substitute by written notice, given in the manner prescribed in this paragraph. 
However, notices of termination, notices of default, and any notice regarding warranties shall be 
sent via registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the address set forth below and to 
legal counsel for the Party to whom the notice is being given. 

If to Owner: If to Contractor: 
Patrick Brown 
Purchasing Director 
City of Flagstaff 
211 West Aspen Avenue 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 
pbrown@flagstaffaz.gov 

With a Copy to: 
Erin Young 
Water Services Manager 
City of Flagstaff 
2323 N Walgreen Blvd 
Flagstaff, AZ 86004 
eyoung@flagstaffaz.gov 
Phone: (928) 213-2405 

Eric Brue 
Business Development 
Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC 
3922 E. University Dr., Ste. 1 
Phoenix, AZ 85034 
eric@yjdrilling.com 
Phone: (602) 453-3252 

With a Copy to: 
Jake Lagana 
District Manager 
Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC 
3922 E. University Dr., Ste. 1 
Phoenix, AZ 85034 
jake@yjdrilling.com 
Phone: (602) 453-3252 

14. Contract Violations. In the event that any of the provisions of this Contract are violated by
Contractor or by any of Contractor’s subcontractors, the Owner may serve written notice upon 
Contractor and the Surety of its intention to terminate such Contract (“Notice to Terminate”). The 
Contract shall terminate within five (5) days of the date Contractor receives the Notice to Terminate, 
unless the violation ceases and Contractor makes arrangements for correction satisfactory to the 
Owner. In the event of any such termination, the Owner shall immediately serve notice of the 
termination upon the Surety by registered mail, return receipt requested. The Surety shall have the 
right to take over and perform the Contract.  If the Surety does not commence performance within ten 
(10) days from the date of receipt of the Owner’s notice of termination, the Owner may complete the 
work at the expense of Contractor, and Contractor and his or her Surety shall be liable to the Owner 
for any excess cost incurred by the Owner to complete the work. If the Owner completes the work, 
the Owner may take possession of and utilize such materials, appliances, and plants as may be on the 
worksite site and necessary for completion of the work. 

15. Termination for Convenience. The Owner may terminate this Contract at any time for any
reason by giving at least fifteen (15) days written notice to Contractor.  If termination occurs under 
this Section, Contractor shall be paid fair market value for work completed by Contractor as of the 
date of termination. The Parties agree that fair market value shall be determined based on Contractor’s 
Specifications (Scope & Cost Estimation), less any work not yet completed by Contractor as of the 
date the written notice of termination is given to Contractor. 

mailto:pbrown@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:eyoung@flagstaffaz.gov
mailto:eric@yjdrilling.com
mailto:jake@yjdrilling.com


 
 

 6  

16. Contractor’s Liability and Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
Contractor shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the City of Flagstaff and its officers, officials, 
agents, and employees (“Indemnitee”) from and against liabilities, damages, losses, and costs, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, but only to the extent caused by the recklessness or 
intentional wrongful conduct of Contractor, subcontractor, or design professional, or other persons 
employed or used by Contractor, subcontractor, or design professional in the performance of the 
Contract. The amount and type of insurance coverage requirements set forth in this Contract (Exhibit 
C, Section 103.6) will in no way be construed as limiting the scope of the indemnity in this paragraph. 

17. Non-Appropriation. In the event that no funds or insufficient funds are appropriated and 
budgeted in any fiscal period of the Owner to meet the Owner’s obligations under this Contract, the 
Owner will notify Contractor in writing of such occurrence, and this Contract will terminate on the 
earlier of the last day of the fiscal period for which sufficient appropriation was made or whenever 
the funds appropriated for payment under this Contract are exhausted. No payments shall be made or 
due to the other Party under this Contract beyond these amounts appropriated and budgeted by the 
Owner to fund the Owner’s obligations under this Contract. 

18. Amendment of Contract. This Contract may not be modified or altered except through a 
formal written amendment or a written change order, approved by the Owner’s Change Order 
Committee, signed by duly authorized representatives of the parties, which directs Owner or 
Contractor, to make alterations to the original Contract. 

19. Subcontracts. Contractor shall not enter into any subcontract, or issue any purchase order for 
the completed work, or any substantial part of the work, unless in each instance, prior written approval 
shall have been given by the Owner. Contractor shall be fully responsible to the Owner for acts and 
omissions of Contractor’s subcontractors and all persons either directly or indirectly employed by 
them. 

20. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest. This Contract is subject to the cancellation provisions 
of A.R.S. § 38-511. 

21. Compliance with All Laws. Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, statutes, 
ordinances, regulations, and governmental requirements in the performance of this Contract. 

22. Contractor’s Warranty. Contractor warrants that it complies with all Federal Immigration 
laws and regulations that relate to its employees and complies with A.R.S. § 23-214.A, Verification 
of Employment Eligibility. Contractor shall not employ aliens in accordance with A.R.S. § 34-301, 
Employment of Aliens on Public Works Prohibited. Contractor acknowledges that pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 41-4401, Government Procurement; E-Verify Requirement; Definitions, a breach of this 
warranty is a material breach of this Contract subject to penalties up to and including termination 
of this Contract, and that the Owner retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any employee 
who works on the Contract to ensure compliance with this warranty. 

23. Jurisdiction and Venue. This Contract shall be administered and interpreted under the laws 
of the State of Arizona. Contractor hereby submits itself to the original jurisdiction of those courts 
located within Coconino County, Arizona. 



 
 

 7  

24. Attorneys’ Fees. If suit or action is initiated in connection with any controversy arising out 
of this Contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover in addition to costs such sum as the 
court may adjudge reasonable as attorney fees, or in event of appeal as allowed by the appellate court. 

25. Time is of the Essence. Contractor acknowledges that the completion of the Contract by the 
dates specified is critical to the Owner, time being of the essence of this Contract. 

26. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the terms, 
provisions, conditions, and obligations of this Contract are for the sole benefit of, and may be 
enforceable solely by, the Parties to this Contract, and none of the terms, provisions, conditions, 
and obligations of this Contract are for the benefit of, or may be enforced by, any person or entity 
not a party to this Contract. 

27. Headings. The article and section headings contained herein are for convenience in reference 
and are not intended to define or limit the scope of any provision of this Contract. 

28. Severability. If any part of this Contract is determined by a court to be in conflict with any 
statute or constitution or to be unlawful for any reason, the Parties intend that the remaining provisions 
of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect unless the stricken provision leaves the remaining 
Contract unenforceable. 

29. Records. The Owner and its employees, agents, and authorized representatives shall have 
the right at all reasonable times and during all business hours to inspect and examine Contractor’s 
records related to this Contract. Contractor shall retain all records related to this Contract for a 
period consistent with the City of Flagstaff’s records retention policy. This record retention 
requirement shall remain in effect following termination of the Contract. 

30. Force Majeure. 

30.1 There may be events that occur during the term of this Contract that are beyond the control 
of both the Owner and Contractor, including events of war, floods, labor, disputes, earthquakes, 
epidemics, pandemics, adverse weather conditions not reasonably anticipated, forest fires, and 
other acts of God (“Events”). These Events may result in a temporary delay of contractual 
deliverables, or the permanent inability to provide the contractual deliverables that are the subject 
of this Contract. 

30.2 There shall be no claims arising from a temporary delay of contractual deliverables, or the 
permanent inability to provide the contractual deliverables caused by the Events, and the Owner 
shall not pay additional costs incurred by Contractor as a result of such Events. 

30.3 The Parties shall act in good faith to extend the Contract completion date without any 
penalty to Contractor and the extension will be in an amount of time equal to any temporary delay. 
This provision of the Contract supersedes all other terms regarding temporary delay, permanent 
shut down, or increased costs. 

31. No Boycott of Israel. Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 35-393 and 35-393.01, if a Party has over ten 
(10) employees and the Contract is worth at least one-hundred thousand dollars and no cents 



8 

($100,000.00), the Party shall certify that it is not currently engaged in, and agrees, for the duration 
of the Contract, will not engage in a boycott of Israel. 

32. Modification to Contract. This Contract shall not be modified within the first year after
Contract award where: (a) an amendment may result in a competitive advantage that was not made 
available to other proposers/bidders; or (b) requests for changes may delay commencement of 
performance. 

33. Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs. If Contractor engages in for-profit activity and has ten
(10) or more employees, pursuant to A.R.S. §35-394, the Contractor certifies that it does not 
currently, and agrees for the duration of the contract that it will not, use: 1) the forced labor of 
ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China; 2) any goods or services produced by the forced 
labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China; and 3) any contractors, subcontractors, 
or suppliers that use the forced labor or any goods or services produced by the forced labor of 
ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China. If Contractor becomes aware during the term 
of the Contract that Contractor is not in compliance with the written certification, Contractor shall 
notify the Owner within five (5) business days after becoming aware of the noncompliance. If 
Contractor does not provide the Owner with a written certification that Contractor has remedied 
the noncompliance within 180 days after notifying the Owner of the noncompliance, this Contract 
terminates, except that if the contract termination date occurs before the end of the remedy period 
the Contract terminates on the Contract termination date. 

34. Authority. Each Party warrants that it has authority to enter into the Contract and perform
its obligations hereunder, and that it has taken all actions necessary to enter into the Contract. 

(REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK) 



 
 

 9  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Owner and Contractor, by their duly authorized representatives, 
have executed this Contract as of the date written above.  
 
(Please sign in blue ink. Submit original signatures – photocopies not accepted)  
 
Owner, City of Flagstaff  Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC 

 
   

Greg Clifton, City Manager  Signature 
   
   
Attest:  Printed Name 
   

City Clerk  Title 
 
 
 

  

Approved as to form:   
   

City Attorney 
 

  

   
 



10 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 
PAYMENT BOND 

PROJECT NAME: WELL SITE MODIFICATION AND DRILLING SERVICES 
PROJECT NUMBER: CG2024-171 

STATUTORY PAYMENT BOND PURSUANT TO TITLE 34 
CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 2, OF THE ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES 

(Penalty of this Bond must be 100% of the Contract Amount) 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That,  

(hereinafter called the “Principal”), as Principal, and, 

, a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of      , with its 

principal office in the City of       (hereinafter called the “Surety”), as 

Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the City of Flagstaff, Arizona (hereinafter called the 

“Obligee”), in the amount of         ____  Dollars 

($    ) for the payment whereof, the said Principal and Surety bind 

themselves, and their heirs, administrators, executors, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, 

firmly by these presents. 

WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a certain written Contract with the Obligee, dated 

this      day of   , 20___, to the City of Flagstaff, which Contract is 

hereby referred to and made a part hereof as fully and to the same extent as if copied at length herein. 

Now, therefore, the condition of this obligation is such, that if the Principal promptly pays all 

monies due to all persons supplying labor or materials to the Principal or the Principal’s 

subcontractors in the prosecution of the work provided for in the Contract, this obligation is void. 

Otherwise, it remains in full force and effect. 

Provided, however, that this bond is executed pursuant to the provisions of Title 34, Chapter 

2, Article 2, Arizona Revised Statutes, and all liabilities on this bond shall be determined in 

accordance with the provisions, conditions, and limitations of said Title and Chapter, to the same 

extent as if it were copied at length in this Contract. 



 
 

 11  

 The prevailing party in a suit on this bond shall recover as a part of the judgment reasonable 

attorney fees that may be fixed by a judge of the court. 

 

 Witness our hands this    day of      20___. 

 

 

              

Principal (Seal)     Surety (Seal) 

 

By:        By:        

 

              

Agency of Record     Agency Address 

  
  



12 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 
PERFORMANCE BOND 

PROJECT NAME: WELL SITE MODIFICATION AND DRILLING SERVICES 
PROJECT NUMBER: CG2024-171 

STATUTORY PERFORMANCE BOND PURSUANT TO TITLE 34 
CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE 2, OF THE ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES 

(Penalty of this Bond must be 100% of the Contract Amount) 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That, ____________________________________________________________________ 

(hereinafter called the “Principal”), as Principal, and,  

, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

_______________, with its principal office in the City of   

(hereinafter called the “Surety”), as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the City of Flagstaff, 

Arizona (hereinafter called the “Obligee”), in the amount of   

 Dollars ($    ) for the payment whereof, the said Principal 

and Surety bind themselves, and their heirs, administrators, executors, successors, and assigns, 

jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. 

WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a certain written Contract with the Obligee, dated 

this   day of    , 20__ in the City of Flagstaff, which Contract is hereby referred to 

and made a part hereof as fully and to the same extent as if copied at length herein. 

Now, therefore, the condition of this obligation is such, that if the Principal faithfully 

performs and fulfills all of the undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, and agreements of the 

Contract during the original term of the Contract and any extension of the Contract, with or without 

notice to the Surety, and during the life of any guaranty required under the Contract, and also 

performs and fulfills all of the undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, and agreements of all duly 

authorized modifications of the Contract that may hereafter be made, notice of which modifications 

to the Surety being hereby waived, the above obligation is void.  Otherwise, it remains in full force 

and effect. 

Provided, however, that this bond is executed pursuant to the provisions of Title 34, Chapter 

2, Article 2, Arizona Revised Statutes, and all liabilities on this bond shall be determined in 



 
 

 13  

accordance with the provisions of said Title and Chapter, to the extent as if it were copied at length 

in this Contract. 

 The prevailing party in a suit on this bond shall recover as part of the judgment reasonable 

attorney fees that may be fixed by a judge of the court. 

 
 Witness our hands this    day of    20__. 
 
 
 
              
Principal (Seal)     Surety (Seal) 
 
By:        By:        
 
              
Agency of Record     Agency Address 
 



EXHIBIT A 

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS 
for 

Red Gap Ranch Well Conformance Project 

Prepared for: 
Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC 

Prepared by: 
Erin Young, PG 
City of Flagstaff 

Water Services Division 



2 

PART 1 - GENERAL 

1.1 Scope of Work 

The work to be accomplished with Yellow Jack Drilling Services, LLC (Contractor) under these 
technical specifications consists of reentering three existing well sites and drilling, setting casing, 
and airlift development of future water production, casing, downhole surveys and airlift 
development of three future water production wells for the City of Flagstaff (City) at Red Gap 
Ranch (RGR), referenced as RGR Well 7, RGR Well 8, and RGR Well 10 (RGR Wells). The 
Contractor has submitted a proposal to the City (Bid Schedule) and the City has entered into a 
Contract with Contractor to complete the Project. 

The RGR Wells are currently set with 24-inch diameter surface casing to 30 to 40 feet below 
land surface (bls). The RGR Wells shall be installed in accordance with the conceptual well 
design presented in this technical specification document. All materials including casing and 
cement grout shall be supplied and purchased by the Contractor. The drilling, casing, and airlift 
development of the well shall be communicated with a representative from the City. 

The conceptual well design for the RGR Wells includes drilling beneath the surface casing of the 
well by the dual rotary drilling method to set 16-inch diameter intermediate casing 
approximately 100 feet below static and open hole 40 feet below casing. This design matches six 
other “Red Gap Ranch Shallow Wells” completed in 2011. 

All items listed in the Bid Schedule and these Technical Specifications, must be completed by 
the Contractor as part of the Contract. 

1.2 Background 

The City purchased Red Gap Ranch in 2005 pursuant to voter approval. Significant groundwater 
resource work was performed on the ranch in previous years with Arizona Department of Water 
Resources (ADWR) granting the City a Designation of Adequate Water Supply for 16,500 acre-
feet of water annually in January 2011. Drilling the RGR Wells will bring them into compliance 
with the six other “shallow wells” drilled in 2011. Selection of the sites were based on a previous 
controlled source audio- frequency magnetotellurics (CSAMT) surface geophysical survey 
conducted in December 2002 and information from a drilling program on the ranch from 2001 to 
2003, conducted by HydroSystems, Inc. for the previous landowners.  

Drilling in the Flagstaff and Red Gap Ranch area offers considerable challenges and 
uncertainties. Lost circulation and deteriorating borehole conditions above the groundwater table 
are common and difficult to predict and control. Many of the City wells have been drilled using 
air and foam with some polymers as the drilling fluid.  Lost circulation conditions, however, 
have necessitated the use of additional polymers, bentonite mud programs and lost circulation 
materials. The previous use of these materials has resulted in significant cost overruns from 
extended development and loss of production from cementation of water producing horizons 
within the well (ATC 2019b) 

In 2007, the City contracted construction of three new production wells using the dual rotary 
drilling method. This method has also been successfully used by other local communities on the 



3  

southern Colorado Plateau. The advantage of the dual rotary method is its effectiveness to 
overcome lost circulation conditions and the use of less water in the drilling process. 

For this Project, the City is contracting for the dual rotary drilling method to complete the RGR 
Wells. The 16-inch blank intermediate casing must be advanced by the dual rotary drilling 
method. The use of bentonite mud, lost circulation materials, or cementing of the water 
producing borehole is not acceptable. All items listed in the Bid Schedule and these Technical 
Specifications must be completed by the Contractor. 

The RGR Wells location is approximately 40 miles east of Flagstaff, Arizona and north of I-40. 
The surface elevation of the well sites is approximately 5,500 feet above mean sea level (amsl). 
Figure 2, RGR Wells Location Map, shows the well sites. 

1.3 Local Hydrogeologic Conditions 

Groundwater is accessed from the regional Coconino aquifer. The depth to groundwater in the 
Coconino aquifer is estimated at a max depth of 250 feet. Contractor should expect to drill 
through a thin cover of Moenkopi siltstone, approximately 200 feet of limestone, following by 
Coconino sandstone to total depth. 

1.4 Contractor Site Specific Health and Safety Plan 

The RGR Wells are located on property owned by City. The Contractor shall prepare a site-
specific Health and Safety Plan (HASP) that addresses items for protection of the well site. The 
HASP shall be submitted by the Contractor to the City as soon as possible after mobilization to 
the site. 

1.5 Permits 

Contractor has acquired an ADWR Notice of Intent to Drill and paid the permit fee for all three 
wells. Water generated during the drilling will be controlled and impounded on-site. Therefore, a 
permit is not required under the Arizona Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (AZPDES) 
program administered by the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ). The 
Contractor shall control discharges according to the site best management practices and drainage 
plans provided by the City. 

1.6 Licenses Required 

The Contractor shall hold: (1) a current Arizona Well Driller’s License issued by ADWR in the 
rotary drilling category; (2) an Arizona Registrar of Contractor License type A, A-4, A-16, CR-
53 or C-53; and (3) all other licenses required by federal, state, county or municipal rules and 
regulations. The Contractor shall provide the City copies of these licenses prior to the start of the 
Project. 

1.7 Contractor Qualifications 

The Contractor shall be licensed to drill wells in the State of Arizona. The Contractor thereby 
certifies that the equipment, personnel, and procedures they are proposing for the work are 



4 

adequate to successfully complete the RGR Wells specified herein. 

1.8 Drilling Method 

The Contractor shall furnish all labor, equipment, materials, and services for the construction of 
the RGR Wells using the dual rotary drilling method from below the conductor casing to a 
maximum 400 feet deep. The Contractor shall perform all of the work required to complete this 
project according to these technical specifications. All work is subject to the approval of the 
City.  

1.9 Utilities 

The City and the Contractor shall share responsibility for the utilities as identified below as 
associated with the drilling, casing, downhole surveys and airlift development of RGR Wells. 

1.9.1 Drilling Water: The City will provide water for drilling of the well at no cost to the 
Contractor. 

1.9.2 Electricity: The Contractor shall provide independent power units for all operations that 
require electricity associated with the drilling of the well, as applicable. 

1.9.3 Underground Utilities: The City is responsible for locating and marking all underground 
utilities as documented in the Arizona Revised Statutes, Chapter 2, Article 6.3, Sections 
40.360.21 through 40.360.31 as related to the Arizona utility location laws. The City shall 
name “Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC” to the 811 ticket. The locating and marking 
of utilities also includes pipelines that cross or pass near the well site prior to the start of 
drilling. Should any of these utilities or pipelines be damaged during the drilling process, 
the City shall be responsible for the repair or replacement of the utilities and/or pipelines. 

1.9.4 Sanitary Facilities: The Contractor shall supply sanitary rest facilities for the entire 
drilling and testing operation for use by the Contractor and City. The Contractor is 
responsible for keeping the sanitary facilities clean and available for use. 

1.10 Submittals 

The Contractor shall keep accurate and legible daily logs and records of all drilling and 
construction, showing all geologic materials encountered during drilling, the depth at which 
changes in formation occur and all difficulties or unusual conditions encountered. The daily logs 
and records shall also show the completion details of the well including but not limited to, the 
length of blank casing installed and the depth of installation. The Contractor shall also record 
estimated airlift discharge rates and sand production during development of the well. The 
Contractor shall submit the drilling penetration rate log, the daily driller's report, and the driller's 
log to the City and submit the Well Completion Report to ADWR as soon as possible upon 
completion of each well site. 

1.10.1 Penetration Rate Log: The Contractor shall record the actual penetration time required 
to drill and advance the casing as the borehole is drilled. The contractor shall record the 
time that it takes to drill each 20-foot section. The log shall be available for review 



5  

throughout drilling of the borehole and shall be delivered to the City upon completion 
of the well, or as requested by the City. 

1.10.2 Daily Drillers’ Report: A detailed Daily Drillers’ Report shall be maintained and 
provided by the Contractor for review by the City. The Daily Drillers’ Report shall 
provide a complete description of all formations encountered, the number of feet 
drilled, the number of hours on the job, any shutdown time due to breakdown, the feet 
of casing set and other such pertinent data as requested by the City. The Contractor 
shall submit the completed Daily Drillers’ Report to the City for approval at the end of 
each day. 

1.10.3 Drillers’ Log: The Contractor shall prepare and keep a complete log that sets forth the 
reference point for all depth measurements (land surface shall be used as the reference 
point), the depth at which each change of formation occurs, the depth at which 
groundwater is first encountered, the depth at which each stratum is encountered and 
the thickness of each stratum. The Contractor shall also identify in the Drillers’ Log the 
material of which each stratum encountered during drilling is composed, including 
color, if the material is loose, tight, angular or rounded, and the depth interval from 
which each formation sample is taken. The Contractor shall provide a copy of the 
Drillers’ Log to the City and submit a copy of the log with the Well Completion Report 
to ADWR. 

1.10.4 Drilling Fluid Report: A daily log of all drilling water used during drilling shall be 
maintained by the Contractor. The Drilling Fluid Report shall be available for review 
by the City throughout the course of drilling activities. This Drilling Fluid Report shall 
be furnished to the City upon completion of the well, or as requested by the City. 

1.10.5 Cutting Samples: The Contractor shall collect and preserve for the City, one set of 
cutting samples collected at each 10-foot depth interval from the initiation of drilling to 
the bottom of the borehole. The samples shall be placed in chip trays furnished by the 
Contractor, which shall be marked by the Contractor with the well identification and 
the depth represented. At a depth of 200 ft, the Contractor shall place the samples in 
cloth bags at each 20-foot depth interval. In addition, as an on-site visual record of the 
borehole stratigraphy, a sample for each interval shall be laid out in descending order in 
the specified sample storage area on a waterproof tarp or ground cloth. The storage area 
and ground cloth must allow samples to be maintained in sequence, unmixed with 
surface material or other samples, until such time as they have been examined and 
documented by the City. The storage area is subject to approval by the City prior to the 
start of drilling. 

1.11 Protection of Property 

1.11.1 The Contractor shall take all necessary precautions to preserve the landscape and 
vegetation, as nearly as practical, in their present condition. The Contractor shall avoid 
damage to vegetation at the site and take precautions to protect them during all phases 
of the work. The Contractor shall be responsible for replacing any damaged items. Off-
road driving and other activities will be restricted to that which is essential for access to 



6 

the well location and for the efficient operation of drilling and testing equipment. All 
litter and debris shall be cleaned up daily and disposed off- site by the Contractor. 
Plastic tarps shall be placed under all drilling and support equipment during the entire 
time the equipment is onsite to protect the site against fuel, oil or hydraulic fluid spills 
or leaks. 

1.11.2 The City shall provide access to the well site and any other locations off the main paved 
road networks used for the well drilling process. The Contractor shall be responsible for 
dust control.  

1.12 Containment of Waste Fluids and Materials 

1.12.1 The Contractor shall maintain the well site in manner to avoid the creation of a 
nuisance to active public use in close proximity to the well site. The Contractor shall 
place the borehole cuttings near each  well as discussed with the City. 

1.12.2 Water discharged from the well during drilling, casing and airlift development 
operations shall be contained onsite by creating a berm to impound all discharge water 
onsite. 

1.13 Performance of Work 

1.13.1 The Contractor shall construct the RGR Wells in accordance with the Rules and 
Regulations of the ADWR, Article 8, Well Construction and Licensing of Well Drillers 
(ADWR, 2019). The well construction shall also comply with the guidelines of the 
Arizona Department of Health Services Engineering Bulletin No. 10 (ADEQ, 1978), 
and all other applicable federal, state, county and local regulations. Rejection of any 
materials, work, or equipment by the City shall be at the Contractor’s sole expense, and 
at no cost to the City. Replacement materials, work, or equipment that is in accordance 
with these specifications and approved by the City will be paid for by the City in 
accordance with this Contract. 

1.13.2 If the City determines that, for reasons beyond the control of the Contractor, it is 
necessary to stop drilling or if the borehole is lost before the objective or desired depth 
is reached, and further attempts to save or complete the borehole are not practical, a 
written order to abandon the borehole shall be issued. The Contractor shall be 
compensated on a time and material basis for attempts to save the borehole subject to 
approval by the City. 

1.13.3 If there is a well abandonment, the Contractor shall abandon the well in accordance 
with Arizona Administrative Code (AAC) Article 8, R12-15-816 as applicable to well 
abandonment. The Contractor shall be reimbursed for the footage drilled and other 
costs incurred and for moving to an alternate location, if applicable, based on direction 
provided by the City. 

1.13.4 If the City determines that the borehole is lost due to negligence, incompetence, or 
malpractice on the part of the Contractor or his personnel, or due to the use of defective 
or unsuitable equipment, the City shall immediately notify the Contractor. The City will 



7  

provide written documentation of this decision within 24-hours and order the borehole 
abandoned. The Contractor shall not be paid for any footage drilled or for other 
operations performed in the abandoned borehole and shall be responsible for replacing 
any lost casing or screen in accordance with these specifications. The Contractor, at his 
own expense, shall abandon the borehole in accordance with AAC Article 8, R12-15-
816 as applicable to well abandonment. The Contractor shall drill a new borehole at an 
alternate site in the immediate area as approved by the City. 

1.13.5 If a work delay, deficiency of work performance and/or a material’s deficiency is 
caused by the Contractor failing to comply with any item of these specifications, the 
Contractor shall bear the burden of additional expenses, including any additional City 
charges assessed to the City as a direct result of the delay or deficiency. This includes 
delays due to equipment failure, if the City determines that the equipment failure could 
have been prevented through proper maintenance. 

1.13.6 The City may, at their discretion, reject Contractor work that does not meet these 
specifications or tolerances thereof, as determined by the City. Any additional standby 
time or other costs incurred by the Contractor as a result of the rejection of any 
specified work provided by the Contractor or its Subcontractors shall not be 
compensated by the City and shall be the sole responsibility of the Contractor. 

1.14 Visitation and Inspection 

The City is entitled to review the Contractor’s facilities, program operations, transactions, and 
records, which pertain to this scope of work and contract, at any reasonable time during the term 
of work. The Contractor further agrees to include in all its subcontracts hereunder, if any, a 
provision that the Subcontractor agrees that the City, City Hydrogeologist, Engineer, or any of 
their authorized representatives, shall have access to the Subcontractor facilities and have the 
right to examine any books, documents, and records of the Subcontractor involving transactions 
related to the subcontract. 

1.15 Lost Circulation 

Because the dual rotary method effectively overcomes zones of lost circulation by advancement 
of the casing, no provision is made for lost circulation conditions while advancing casing. The 
Contractor assumes no responsibility or provision for lost circulation in non-cased drilling 
advancement described in these technical specifications. 

PART 2 - MATERIALS 

2.1 Conductor Casing 

The conductor casing is already set. 

2.2 Intermediate Casing 

2.2.1 Intermediate Casing shall be new LCS blank casing, manufactured in accordance with 
ASTM Specification A53 Grade B steel or ASTM Specification A139 Grade B steel. 



8 

Intermediate Casing  shall have a 16-inch OD and have a minimum 0.375-inch wall 
thickness. The weight of the casing is approximately 86.61 pounds per foot (lbs/ft). The 
length of Intermediate Casing is estimated not to exceed 350 feet (Figure 1). 

2.3 Additional Casing Material Requirements 

2.3.1 The dual rotary method as applicable to RGR Wells will require various diverter head 
and cutting shoe sizes. The contractor has the option of having the casing manufacturer 
prepare the outside of the casing to accommodate the rig tooling. The Contractor may 
also need to have a custom cutting shoe prepared for attachment to the bottom of the 
casing. 

2.3.2 Casing Material Documentation: All casing materials shall be new and no excessively 
rusted casing will be accepted. Shop drawings for the casing shall include written 
assurances from the casing manufacturer that the casing specifications meet or exceed the 
installation and application and that the casing supplied meets or exceeds the 
specifications. The Contractor shall supply documentation of the casing specifications 
and strength as applied to the installation of the well according to the applicable 
conceptual well design (Figure 1). The Contractor submittal shall include certified test 
reports that demonstrate compliance with the physical and chemical properties of the well 
casing steel that are specified herein, and submit a copy of that certified test report to the 
City prior to casing installation. 

2.3.3 Welding of Casing Joints: Welding shall be conducted using the appropriate electrodes or 
wireline feed equivalent that is applicable for LCS and HSLA steel casing. All welding 
shall be performed by a welder who is experienced with the drilling operation and 
materials selected for use in this project. Joints in the well casing shall be field welded in 
accordance with applicable provisions of the American Water Works Association 
(AWWA) Standard C206 for welded joints. A welding sequence shall be followed which 
will avoid excessive distortion. Prior to welding, the ends of each casing section shall be 
free of grease, paint, cement, dirt, oil, scale, slag, heavy rust or any other foreign 
material. The inside edge of the weld rings and the outside edge of the adjacent casing 
length shall be ground, or sufficiently scarred, to remove sharp edges or burrs. Section 
ends shall be beveled, perpendicular to the axis of the casing, and shall not vary more 
than 0.010 inch at any point from a true plane at right angles to the axis of the casing. The 
ends of the casing sections shall be sufficiently orientated to assure 100 percent 
penetration of the weld, and adequate welding passes shall be made to provide for 
complete filling of the joined casing ends. Each welding pass shall be smooth and free of 
blisters, scale, bubbles, cracks, and imperfections that would contribute to a lack of 
strength of the overall welded joint. The welds shall be capable of developing the full 
strength of the base metal. All well casing joints or overlaps shall be made watertight. 

2.4 Surface Seal 

The Contractor shall weld a steel donut between the conductor casing and the well production 
casing. The Contractor shall also weld a water-tight lid on the 16-inch production casing with a 
6-inch threaded port. The threaded port shall be plugged. 



9  

2.5 Drilling Water 

Only potable water or raw groundwater (not reclaimed water) will be used as drilling water. 

PART 3 - EXECUTION 

3.1 Mobilization and Demobilization 

The Contractor shall furnish and maintain, in safe and efficient working condition, all equipment 
necessary to perform the specified work, including a drill rig capable of performing the specified 
operations to the specified depths, and auxiliary equipment as specified or required to complete 
the described tasks. Prior to mobilization of drilling equipment to the property, the Contractor 
shall decontaminate the drill rig and downhole tools by steam cleaning and rinsing critical pieces 
of equipment. All living and other expenses to perform this project shall be included in this task. 
Mobilization and demobilization shall be paid as a lump sum (LS). 

3.2 Conductor Borehole Drilling, Casing and Surface Seal 

The conductor borehole casing was set in 2011. The City shall conduct due diligence in 
measuring the plumbness of the borehole casing prior to drilling. The Contractor shall not be 
liable for any borehole deviation caused by surface casing misalignment. Contractor and City 
must agree to any misalignment challenges and the proposed plan by the Contractor to mitigate 
deviation of the borehole due to documented conditions of the surface casing prior to drilling at 
each well. 

3.3 Telescope 16-inch Diameter Intermediate Casing 

The Contractor shall install (telescope) 16-inch diameter casing inside the conductor casing with 
a nominal 16-inch diameter casing shoe welded to the bottom edge of the 16-inch casing to a 
depth of 100-feet below static. Telescoping of the 16- inch casing shall be paid by the LF. 

3.4 Drill 40-Feet Open Hole 

After telescoping the 16-inch diameter casing, the Contractor shall drill 40 feet open hole, with a 
minimum of 12 3/4-inch bit, to allow under-reaming in the future. 

3.5 Airlift Development 

Before removing the drill rig, the Contractor shall develop the well to remove drill cuttings and 
fine sediments using the airlift method. The Contractor shall provide all equipment, dual-wall 
pipe, appropriate amount of compressed air, personnel, fuel and other materials to conduct airlift 
development of the well.  Airlift development begins once groundwater is airlifted to the surface 
and ends when the air is turned off. Airlift development time does not include setting and 
removal of the downhole piping or any equipment failure or replacement. The Contractor shall 
start airlift development at the bottom of the well and gradually raise the dual- wall pipe to 
remove fluid and fine material from the well. Airlift development is estimated at 24- hours. 
Additional airlift development is subject to approval by the City. Any material accumulated in 
the well as a result of the airlift development must be removed by the Contractor. Airlift 



10 

development shall be paid by the HR. 

3.6 Downhole Geophysical Logging 

Downhole geophysical logging shall be performed at the City’s expense and coordination 
through the City. 

3.7 Plumbness and Alignment Surveys 

3.7.1 Three municipal dual rotary wells drilled for the City between 2007 and 2009 
experienced significant deviation (plumbness and alignment) based on subsequent 
information from high-speed gyroscopic surveys of the completed wells. It should also be 
noted that significant deviation was also experienced in other City production wells 
drilled by other drilling methods. Significant deviation can make it difficult or almost 
impossible to install the downhole pumping equipment and impact the subsequent 
maintenance of the well when equipment needs to be removed, repaired/replaced and 
reinstalled. The plumbness and alignment requirements for RGR Wells are based on the 
following anticipated downhole equipment and estimated conditions. 

3.7.1.1 Permanent downhole equipping of the well includes installation of a submersible pump, 
motor and seal. The pump is approximately 10-inch diameter and the motor is 8-inch 
diameter with the length of the entire unit estimated at 70 feet. 

3.7.1.2 The deepest anticipated pump setting is 1,000 feet below land surface. 

3.7.2.3 The static water level is approximately 250 feet and the pumping water level is 
unknown. 

3.7.2.4 The water production rate is estimated between 700 and 1,200 gpm. 

3.7.3 The gyroscopic surveys performed in the previously installed dual rotary wells indicated 
that each of the wells experienced deviation beginning in the uppermost 200 feet of the 
well. Lithologic logging of the wells indicated that this depth range is within the Kaibab 
Formation. Use of larger 16-inch ID casing is one way of helping to accommodate 
installation and removal of downhole equipment from the well. The City anticipates the 
RGR Wells will be completed with 12-inch diameter casing or smaller.  It is the 
Contractor’s responsibility to drill, install and develop the RGR Wells to permit 
subsequent unobstructed installation of the permanent pump equipment  at the projected 
setting depth, and to facilitate the operation of the permanent pump equipment. 

3.7.4 The City shall coordinate a high-speed gyroscopic survey in the well using full-gage 
centralizers in the cased well. The City shall be present during the survey. Well 
orientation measurements for the gyroscopic survey shall be taken every 20 feet for the 
entire depth of the well.  The accuracy of the measurements shall be ±0.05-degree for 
inclination (drift angle), ±0.5-degree for azimuth (drift direction), and one foot for true 
vertical depth. 



11  

3.7.5 A printed report containing a drawing of the horizontal projection of the well and the 
following tabulated survey data must be submitted to the City for approval within two 
calendar days of data collection: depth of measurements, course length, drift angle, 
vertical depth, true vertical depth, drift direction, amount of dog leg per 100 feet, and 
degree of dog leg per 20-foot course length. 

3.7.6 Plumbness and alignment of the 16-inch diameter Intermediate Casing 1 is imperative for 
subsequent drilling and casing installation. Experience from wells previously drilled for 
the City has shown that if the well is not plumb and aligned in the uppermost 240 feet, 
this will only create additional difficulties for the plumbness and alignment of the rest of 
the well that could impact downhole equipment installation. Because of its importance, 
the specification for the 16-inch casing is more restrictive when compared to the other 
inner casings. Tolerances presented below are written in close agreement with guidance 
from the Roscoe Moss Company (1990) and the AWWA (2006) standards for plumbness 
and alignment. 

3.7.7 Definitions 

3.7.7.1 Plumbness: Plumbness is a measure of how far off from vertical the well is. The 
plumbness in these technical specifications is defined as the horizontal distance from 
the center of the top of the casing to the center of the bottom of the casing. 

3.7.8.2 Alignment: Alignment is a measure of how straight the well is, no matter how vertical 
or non-vertical the well is. Alignment in these technical specifications is determined 
from a line connecting the point at the center of the top of the casing to a point at the 
center of the bottom of the casing. Alignment addresses misalignment or “dogleg” of 
the well. Typically, pump installation difficulties are due to the dogleg of a well. The 
tolerance accepted for the wells identified in this scope of work will be identified as the 
stabilizer is removed. If there is excessive binding or dragging of the stabilizer, the 
Contractor shall contact the City regarding the status. 

3.8 Well Site Security 

The Contractor is responsible for the security of the well site until the work is completed and 
accepted by the City. The Contractor shall select and implement the  security  measure  or 
measures to protect the well from damage, acts of vandalism and public safety. The City, 
County, City  are not responsible for any lost or damaged equipment at the well site. During 
completion of all the work in connection with construction, development and testing, the 
Contractor shall temporarily cap the well to prevent unauthorized entry. For final completion of 
the well, the Contractor shall place a 3/8-inch thick steel plate over the top of the well casing and 
secure the top with a full circumference weld. Well site security shall be paid as a LS. 

3.9 Optional Services 

3.9.1 Standby Time: Standby Time consists of the cost of maintaining equipment and 
personnel if a work stoppage is not due to any fault of the Contractor or Subcontractor’s. 
The Contractor must notify the City at the commencement of any standby time and 
provide an explanation. Standby time shall be documented in the Contractor’s daily log. 



12 

All standby time is subject to approval by the City. Standby time shall be paid by the HR. 

3.9.2 Additional Requested Services: Any additional services requested by the City or City 
shall be paid by the HR. 

3.9.3 Well Abandonment: If well abandonment is necessary, the Contractor shall abandon the 
borehole in accordance with AAC Article 8, R12-1-816 as applicable to well 
abandonment. Well abandonment shall be paid by the LF. 

3.10 Allowance Items 

3.10.1 Operational: An Operational Contract Allowance Item is provided for the purpose of 
encumbering funds to cover the costs to complete items of work not included in the 
Contract Documents relative to activities or services required by the Contractor from 
the City and/or County. The amount of the allowance item is determined by the City. 
The allowance item provides an estimated funding to cover unforeseen activities or 
services that may be encountered and corresponding extra work needed to complete the 
Contract. Extra work, if any, which is to be paid out of this allowance shall be 
authorized in writing and approved by a Field Order prior to proceeding with the work. 
Extra work shall be paid for by extension of unit bid prices, negotiated price, or on a 
time and materials basis in accordance with this Contract. 

3.10.2 It shall be understood that the amount for this item in the proposal is an estimate only 
and no guarantee is given that the full amount or any portion thereof will actually be 
utilized. It shall not be utilized without first obtaining an approved Field Order signed 
by the Contractor and the City. 

3.10.3 Drilling: A Drilling Contract Allowance Item is provided for the purpose of 
encumbering funds to cover the costs to complete items of work not included in the 
Contract Documents relative to activities or services required by the Contractor from 
the City. The amount of the allowance item is determined by the City. The allowance 
item provides an estimated funding to cover unforeseen activities or services that may 
be encountered and corresponding extra work needed to complete the Contract. Extra 
work, if any, which is to be paid out of this allowance shall be authorized in writing and 
approved by a Field Order prior to proceeding with the work. Extra work shall be paid 
for by extension of unit bid prices, negotiated price, or on a time and materials basis in 
accordance with this Contract. 

3.10.4 It shall be understood that the amount for this item in the proposal is an estimate only 
and no guarantee is given that the full amount or any portion thereof will actually be 
utilized. It shall not be utilized without first obtaining an approved Field Order signed 
by the Contractor and the City. 



13 

PART 4 - METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 

4.1 Mobilization and Demobilization: Will be measured as a LS. 

4.2 Conductor Borehole Drilling, Casing and Surface Seal: Will be measured to the nearest LF. 

4.3 Telescope 16-inch Diameter Casing: Will be measured to the nearest LF. 

4.4 Drill and Advance Intermediate Casing 1: Will be measured to the nearest LF. 

4.5 Open Borehole Drilling Below Intermediate Casing 1: Will be measured to the nearest LF. 

4.6 Drill and Advance Casing:  Will be measured to the nearest LF. 

4.7 Dual Rotary or Open Borehole Drilling (Contractor Selected): Measured to the nearest LF. 

PART 5 - BASIS OF PAYMENT 

5.1 Drill and Advance Intermediate Casing 1: Payment for the accepted quantities, measured 
as provided above, will be paid for at the contract unit price per LF, which price shall be 
full compensation for the work, complete in place. 

5.2 Open Borehole Drilling Below Intermediate Casing 1: Payment for the accepted  
quantities, measured as provided above, will be paid for at the contract unit price per LF, 
which price shall be full compensation for the work, complete in place. 

5.3 Drill and Advance Casing: Payment for the accepted quantities, measured as provided 
above, will be paid for at the contract unit price per LF, which price shall be full 
compensation for the work, complete in place. 

5.4 Dual Rotary or Open Borehole Drilling (Contractor Selected): Payment for the accepted 
quantities, measured as provided above, will be paid for at the contract unit price per LF, 
which price shall be full compensation for the work, complete in place. 

5.5 Airlift Development: Payment for the accepted quantities, measured as provided above, 
will be paid for at the contract unit price per HR, complete in place. The contract price 
shall be full compensation for performing the work as specified in the specifications, and 
as directed by the City. 

5.6 Downhole Geophysical Logging: Responsibility of City. 

5.7 Well Site Security: Payment will be measured as provided above, will be made at the 
contract LS price, which shall be full compensation for supplying and furnishing all 
materials, facilities and services for the work involved as specified herein. 

5.8 Standby Time: Payment for the accepted quantities, measured as provided above, will be 
paid for at the contract unit price per HR, complete in place. The contract price shall be 
full compensation for performing the work as specified in the specifications, and as 



14  

directed by the City. 

5.9 Additional Requested Services: Payment for the  accepted  quantities,  measured  as  
provided above, will be paid for at the contract unit price per HR, complete in place. The 
contract price shall be  full compensation for performing the work  as specified  in  the 
specifications,  and as directed by the City. 

5.10 Well Abandonment (if required for new supply well): Payment for the accepted 
quantities, measured as provided above, will be paid for at the contract LF unit price, 
complete in place. The contract price shall be full compensation for furnishing all labor, 
materials, tools, equipment and incidentals involved in abandonment of the well. 

PART 6 - REFERENCES 

American Water Work Association, 2006.   AWWA Standards Water Well (ANSI/AWWA 
A100-06). 

American Water Work Association, Denver, Colorado. August 1. 

Arizona Department of Environmental Quality, 1978.  Engineering Bulletin No. 10 Guidelines 
for the Construction of Water Systems. Arizona Department of Environmental Quality, Phoenix, 
Arizona. 

Arizona Department of Water Resources, 2019. Article 8 - Well Construction and Licensing of 
Well Drillers. Arizona Department of Water Resources, Phoenix, Arizona. June. 

ATC Group Services LLC, 2019a. Task 2 Fort Tuthill Well 2 Supplemental Geophysical Survey 
Results.  August 19. 

ATC Group Services LLC, 2019b. Final Drilling Method Evaluation Flagstaff Area 
Recommendation Memo 2.  June 13. 

Environmental Protection Agency, 1976.  Manual of Water Well Construction Practices. 

Northland Exploration Surveys, Inc., 2019. Topographic Survey of a Portion of Ft Tuthill. June 
27. Roscoe Moss Company, 1990.  Handbook of Groundwater Development.  Roscoe Moss 
Company, Las Angeles, California. 







The Southwest's Premier Provider of Innovative Drilling and Well Services

Ms. Erin Young Date: 5/13/24

City of Flagstaff Bid # (AZ)JT24-6371R(1)

211 W. Aspen Avenue

Flagstaff, AZ 86001

Office: 

Cell: 928.821.5952

E-mail: eyoung@flagstaffaz.gov

Subject: 

Drilling Services -- Red Gap Ranch Well Modification Program, Flagstaff, AZ

Dear Erin:

The following is in response to City of Flagstaff ('Client') provided RFP dated 5/3/24 for the above referenced project

and details from Teams meeting conducted on 5/10/24.

Scope of Work: 

Utilizing a Foremost DR24HD (dual rotary 'DR' / down-hole-hammer 'DHH' / tri-cone 'TC' equipped) drill rig:

Drill, case, and develop (3) 16" .375" wall LCS water supply wells to a depth of 390' (drill 1,056' total / case 1,050' total).

Step #1.) 38'-350', Telescope-in and drill 16" (DR) borehole (collect bulk soil samples every 10' from the cyclone discharge).

Step #2.) 350'-390', Drill 15" (DHH) and/or 14 3/4" (TC) borehole (collect bulk soil samples every 10' from the cyclone 

discharge).

Step #3.) Weld 1/2" steel casing ring between 16" and 24" casings.

Step #4.) Develop well (air-lift for +/- 12-hours).

Step #5.) Secure well (tack-welded 1/2" x 24" x 24" steel cover plate).

Proposed Drilling Equipment Package:

Foremost DR24HD drill rig, staffed with a 3-man crew

Rig tender

Equipment trailer

4X4 Crew truck 

Utility trailer

All-terrain forklift

Auxiliary air compressor 

2K Water truck

Availability:

TBD at time of notification of intent to contract.

*Note: As of the time of this writing 'YJD' has the necessary resources available to mobilize and begin field activities as

early as the week of 5/12/24.

Project Cost Summary:

See attached.

EXHIBIT B - TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS



 'YJD' Proposal Assumptions & Conditions:

1.) YJD to provide ADWR Well Modification permits. No AZPDES, Encroachment, or Traffic Control permits are required.

2.) All drilling locations are to be clear of any and all overhead & subsurface utilities.

3.) All drilling locations are accessible by way of 2-wheel drive truck mounted drilling & related equipment. 

4.) An equipped 'Client' arranged/approved nearby water supply source will be made available during all drilling and 

related phases of the project; at no cost to 'YJD'. 

5.) All drill cuttings / fluids generated will be discharged and/or stockpiled on-site; within 100' of the drilling locations.

6.) If required; profiling and disposal of all drill cuttings / fluids generated will be the responsibility of 'Client'.

7.) All water generated during the drilling operations will be discharged on-site; within 100' of the drilling locations.

8.) All well development and/or testing water generated will be discharged on-site; within 100' of the drilling locations.

9.) All decon water generated will be discharged on-site; within 100' of the drilling locations.

10.) In the event that geologic conditions (i.e. excessive water production, unconsolidated formations..) are encountered

that render the down-hole-hammer ('DHH') drilling method ineffective; as standard industry practice the borehole will be

completed utilizing tricone ('TC') drilling methods. All time associated with using the 'TC' method will be billed to 'Client'

at the rate of $1,030/hour; plus the cost of 'TC' bits.

11.) During the drilling operation, if a "Hard or Unstable Formation" is encountered that results in a penetration rate

of 5 feet per hour or less for a continuous period of two (2) hours, 'YJD' will be compensated for the drilling conditions

at the rate of $1,030.00/hour. Also there will reasonable compensation to 'YJD' for all drilling bits and other materials used

during the period of hard/unstable drilling conditions. The conditions shall apply from the beginning of the time of low

penetration (less than 5 feet per hour) and shall continue only until such time as drilling is resumed at a rate of 5 feet

per hour or greater. Drill will contact City after one (1) hour of encountering low-penetration conditions.

12.) Schedule/Pricing is based on a single rig operation; utilizing (1) crew, working 12/hour shifts, working a 10/on (days) -

4/off (days) schedule (including mob/demob/travel time); or as 'YJD' deems necessary to complete what it views as critical

phases of the project.

13.) Project is not subject to Prevailing, Davis Bacon, Union, or TERO labor rates.

14.) Drill rig standby due to unreadiness of the drilling locations, blasting, weather delays, and/or 'Client' delays will be billed 

at the rate of $1,030.00/hour.

15.) If the project encounters difficulties beyond our control or if the scope of work is altered, 'YJD' reserves the right

to renegotiate the price.

16.) EIA Fuel Use Market Adjustment; due to the current price fluctuations of petroleum products 'YJD' has based the 

provided pricing on the most recent available weekly retail gasoline and diesel prices as reported by the Energy 

Information Administration ('EIA' - Official Energy Statistics from the US Government). 'YJD' has used the reported area 

average of ($4.11-Gallon) to calculate it's bid; in the event that the cost of fuel increases prior to the start and/or during 

the course of the project 'YJD' will invoice for the additional costs on a per-shift basis. The per-shift charge will be based 

on the difference of the fuel cost per-gallon at the time of bid; plus 15% mark-up verses the actual cost per-gallon during 

the time period in which the project is completed.

*NOTE: The multiplier to calculate the fuel use market adjustment on a per-shift basis is based on the equipment package 

utilized; for this bid the per-shift multiplier is based on the fixed amounts as follows; DR24HD (300-gallons).

For established Clients services rendered will be billed promptly upon completion of work. Terms are net thirty (30) days 

unless otherwise agreed in writing in advance. A delinquency charge of 1.5% per month will apply to all past due invoices, 

unless a lower rate is required by law. Client agrees to pay all court costs and attorneys fees, should court proceedings  

be initiated or attorneys be retained to collect past due amounts.

We at Yellow Jacket Drilling Services thank you for the opportunity to provide this proposal. If you have any questions, or 

if we can be of any further assistance please do not hesitate to contact us at (888) 495-3745. We look forward to hearing

from you soon.

Sincerely,

Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC

John Truax
John Truax

Executive Vice President



Item Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total

Project Cost Summary

DR24HD Drilling Equipment: Mob/Demob 1 LS 35,645.00$     35,645.00$    

DR24HD On-Site Inspections, Training, Safety Meetings.. 0 HR 1,030.00$     -$     

Drill: Set-up for 16" DR 3 EA 3,090.00$     9,270.00$    

Drill: Telescope-in 16" Casing 114 LF 52.00$    5,928.00$    

Drill: 16" DR Borehole 936 LF 253.00$    236,808.00$    

Drill: Set-up for 15" DHH 3 EA 3,090.00$     9,270.00$    

Drill: 15" DHH Borehole 120 LF 143.00$    17,160.00$    

Drill: 14 3/4" TC Borehole (All Time Associated) 0 HR 1,030.00$     -$     

Drill: Borehole Wiper Pass, Clean-out.. 0 HR 1,030.00$     -$     

Trucking: Materials 3 EA 1,400.00$     4,200.00$    

Well Material: 16" .375" Wall LCS Casing 1059 LF 83.00$    87,897.00$    

Well Material: 16" DR Casing Shoe 3 LF 1,155.00$     3,465.00$    

Surface Completion: 1/2" x 16" x 24" Steel Casing Ring (Welded) 3 EA 1,655.00$     4,965.00$    

Surface Completion: 1/2" x 24" x 24" Steel Cover Plate (Tack-Welded) 3 EA 890.00$    2,670.00$    

Development: Set-up of Airlifting 3 EA 3,090.00$     9,270.00$    

Development: Airlifting (All Time Associated) 36 HR 1,030.00$     37,080.00$    

DR24HD Move-on, Set-up, Take-down, Clean-up.. 3 EA 22,720.00$     68,160.00$    

DR24HD Rig Standby ('Client' Directed Work Stoppage..) 0 HR 1,030.00$     -$     

Visqueen Plastic Roll: Drill Pad Protection 6 EA 130.00$    780.00$     

Site Protection: Security Guard (Working Days: 12-Hours) 30 DY 725.00$    21,750.00$    

Site Protection: Security Guard (Off Days: 24-Hours) 12 DY 1,450.00$     17,400.00$    

Porta-Potty: Transportation, Rental, Service.. (1-Month Minimum) 2 MO 625.00$    1,250.00$    

Trash Service: Transportation, Rental, Service.. (1-Month Minimum) 2 MO 500.00$    1,000.00$    

Delivery /Pick-up: All-Terrain Forklift (Staging Area) 1 LS 1,425.00$     1,425.00$    

Rental: All-Terrain Forkilift (Staging Area) 4 WK 1,900.00$     7,600.00$    

Delivery / Pick-Up: Backhoe 1 LS 1,425.00$     1,425.00$    

Rental: Backhoe 4 WK 1,725.00$     6,900.00$    

Protective Liability Coverage Insurance Rider 1 LS 860.00$    860.00$     

Performance and Payment Bonds (2.5%) 1 LS 14,804.45$     14,804.45$    

Subtotal 606,982.45$    

Sales Tax (City of Flagstaff) 26,039.55$    

Estimated Project Total 633,022.00$    



1

Amended October 2020

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AMENDMENTS 

to
MAG STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION
(General Provisions)

EXHIBIT C



2

Amended October 2020

The 
MAG UNIFORM STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS 

for 
PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION 

is hereby amended to include the following:

PART 100 - GENERAL CONDITIONS

SECTION 102 - BIDDING REQUIREMENTS AND CONDITIONS

102.1 ELIGIBILITY AND PREFERENCE:
(revise to include the following)

If requested by the City, a Bidder shall furnish satisfactory evidence of the Bidder's competency to 
perform the proposed work.  Such evidence of competency, unless otherwise specified, shall consist 
of statements covering the Bidder's experience on similar work, a list of equipment that would be 
available for the work and a list of key personnel that would be available.

In addition, if requested, a Bidder shall furnish the City of Flagstaff with satisfactory evidence of the 
Bidder's financial responsibility. Such evidence of financial responsibility, unless otherwise specified, 
shall consist of a confidential statement or report of the Bidder's financial resources and liabilities 
as of the last calendar year or the contractor's last fiscal year.  Such statements or reports shall be 
certified by a public accountant.  At the time of submitting such financial statements or reports, the 
Bidder shall further certify whether the Bidder's financial responsibility is approximately the same 
as stated or reported by the public accountant.  If the Bidder's financial responsibility has changed, 
the Bidder shall qualify the public accountant's statement or report to reflect the Bidder's true 
financial condition at the time such qualified statement or report is submitted to the City of Flagstaff.

The Bidder shall submit such "evidence of competency" and "evidence of financial responsibility" to 
the City of Flagstaff no later than five (5) working days after receipt of a written request by the City 
of Flagstaff.

Each bidder, contractor and subcontractor shall possess and maintain the appropriate contractor's 
license for the work included in this contract.  The appropriate license shall be as required by the 
Arizona State Registrar of Contractors and as required by Arizona Revised Statutes Chapter 10, Title 
32.



3

Amended October 2020

102.2 CONTENTS OF PROPOSAL PAMPHLET:
(revise to include the following)

The Plans, Specifications and other Documents designated in the Contract Documents shall be 
considered a part of the Contract whether attached or not.
The City of Flagstaff reserves the right to refuse to issue a proposal form or accept a proposal form 
from a prospective Bidder if they are in default for any of the following reasons:

(A) Failure to comply with any prequalification regulations of the City of Flagstaff, if such 
regulations are cited or otherwise included in the Proposal as a requirement for 
bidding;

(B) Failure to pay or satisfactorily settle all bills due for labor and materials on former 
contracts in force (with the City of Flagstaff) at the time the City of Flagstaff issues 
the Proposal to a prospective Bidder;

(C) Contractor, as a company owner, has defaulted under previous contract(s) with the 
City of Flagstaff in the prior five calendar years;

(D) Record of unsatisfactory work on previous contract(s) with the City of Flagstaff in the 
prior five calendar years.

102.2 CONTENTS OF PROPOSAL PAMPHLET:
(third paragraph, revise last sentence to read as follows)

The work embraced herein shall be done in accordance with the requirements of:

City of Flagstaff Amendments to MAG Standard Specifications for Public Works 
Construction (General Provisions).

City of Flagstaff (City) Engineering Standards (Current Version and adopted revisions).

Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG), Uniform Standard Specifications for Public 
Works Construction, Current Version (MAG Specifications).

MAG Standard Details for Public Works Construction, Current Version and adopted revisions (MAG 
Details). 

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) Standard Specifications for Road and Bridge 
Construction, Current Version and adopted revisions. 

In the case of conflict, the following order of precedence shall govern:



4

Amended October 2020

1. Special Provisions
2. Construction Plans and Addenda
3. General Provisions and MAG Revisions
4. City of Flagstaff Standards and Specifications
5. MAG Standards and Specifications
6. ADOT Standards and Specifications
7. FHWA Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices

102.4 EXAMINATION OF PLANS, SPECIAL PROVISIONS AND SITE OF WORK:
(revise to include the following)

Before submitting a bid, each bidder shall examine the site and obtain information that pertains to 
the physical conditions of the site that may affect the cost, progress or performance of the work.  
Any restrictions or difficulties relating to the completion of the work shall be considered in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract documents.

102.7 IRREGULAR PROPOSALS:
(revise to include the following)

The City of Flagstaff reserves the right to reject any irregular Proposal and the right to waive 
technicalities for acceptance of Proposals, if such waiver is in the best interest of the City of Flagstaff 
and conforms to local laws and ordinances pertaining to the letting of construction contracts.
Proposals shall be considered irregular for the following additional reasons:

(A) If the Proposal contains unit prices that are obviously unbalanced.
(B) If the Proposal is not accompanied by the proposal guaranty specified by the City.

102.12 DISQUALIFICATION OF BIDDERS:
(revise to include the following)

A Bidder shall also be considered disqualified if the Bidder is considered in default for any reason 
specified in Subsection 102.2 as amended by this MAG Amendment.

102.13 SUCCESSFUL BIDDERS:
(revise paragraph to read as follows)

The City of Flagstaff shall provide six (6) sets of plans and Contract Documents at no cost.  A direct 
expense fee shall be charged for any additional copies.

SECTION 103 - AWARD AND EXECUTION OF CONTRACT



5

Amended October 2020

103.6 CONTRACTOR'S INSURANCE:

103.6.1 GENERAL:
(revise subsection to read as follows)

The Contractor and its Subcontractors, at Contractor’s and Subcontractors’ own expense, shall 
purchase and maintain the herein stipulated minimum insurance with companies duly licensed, 
possessing a current A.M. Best, Inc. Rating of A-, 7, or approved by the City.  The insurance 
company shall be licensed in the State of Arizona.  Policies and forms shall be satisfactory to the 
City.

All insurance required herein shall be maintained in full force and effect until all work and/or 
services required to be performed, under the terms of the Contract, are satisfactorily completed 
and formally accepted.  At the sole discretion of the City, failure to do so may constitute a 
material breach of this Contract.

The Contractor’s insurance shall be primary insurance as respects the City. Any insurance or self-
insurance maintained by the City shall not contribute to it.

Contractor shall not fail to comply with the claim reporting provisions of the insurance policies 
or cause a breach of any insurance policy warranty that would affect coverage afforded under 
insurance policies to protect the City.

The insurance policies (except Worker’s Compensation) shall contain a waiver of transfer of rights 
of recovery (subrogation) against the City, its agents, representatives, directors, officers, and 
employees for any claims arising out of the Contractor’s acts, errors, mistakes, omissions, work 
or service.

The insurance policies may provide coverage, which contains deductibles or self-insured 
retentions.  Such deductible and/or self-insured retentions shall not be applicable with respect 
to the coverage provided to the City under such policies.  The Contractor shall be solely 
responsible for the deductible and/or self-insured retentions, and the City, at its option, may 
require the Contractor to secure payment of such deductibles or self-insured retentions by a 
Surety Bond or an irrevocable and unconditional letter of credit.

The City reserves the right to request and to receive, within 10 working days, certified copies of 
any or all of the herein required insurance policies and/or endorsements.  The City shall not be 
obligated, however, to review same or to advise Contractor of any deficiencies in such policies 
and endorsements, and such receipt shall not relieve Contractor from, or be deemed a waiver of 
the City’s right to insist on, strict fulfillment of Contractor’s obligations under this Contract.



6

Amended October 2020

Except for Worker’s Compensation, the insurance policies, required by this Contract shall name 
the City, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and employees as additional 
insureds.

Required Coverage

A. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

The Contractor shall maintain Commercial General Liability insurance with a limit of not less than 
$1,000,000 for each occurrence with a $2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate 
and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit.  The Policy shall include coverage for bodily injury, 
broad form property damage, personal injury, products and completed operations and blanket 
contractual coverage.  Coverage will be at least as broad as Insurance Service Office, Inc. Policy 
Form CG 00011093 or any replacements thereof.  The coverage shall not exclude X, C, U.

Such policy shall contain a severability of interest provision and shall not contain a sunset 
provision or commutation clause, nor any provision, which would serve to limit third party action 
over claims.  The Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement shall be at least 
as broad as the Insurance Service Office, Inc. Additional Insured, Form B, CG 20101185, and shall 
include coverage for Contractor’s operations and products and completed operations.

B.  OWNERS AND CONTRACTOR’S PROTECTIVE LIABILITY

The Contractor shall purchase and maintain, at all times during prosecution of the work, services 
or operations under this Contract, an Owner’s and Contractor’s Protective Liability insurance 
policy for bodily injury and property damage, including death, which may arise in the prosecution 
of the Work or Contractor’s operations under this Contract.  Coverage shall be on an occurrence 
basis with a limit not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, and the policy shall be issued by the 
same insurance company that issues the Contractor’s Commercial General Liability insurance.

C.  AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Contractor shall maintain Commercial/Business Automobile Liability insurance with a combined 
single limit for bodily injury and property damage of not less than $1,000,000 each occurrence 
with respect to the Contractor’s any auto, all owned autos, scheduled autos, hired autos, non-
owned autos assigned to or used in performance of the Contractor’s work.  Coverage will be at 
least as broad as coverage code 1, “any auto”, (Insurance Service Office, Inc. Policy CA 00011293, 
or any replacements thereof).  Such insurance shall include coverage for loading and off-loading 
hazards.  If hazardous substances, materials or wastes are to be transported, MCS 90 
endorsement shall be included and $5,000,000 per accident limits for bodily injury and property 
damage shall apply.



7

Amended October 2020

D. WORKER’S COMPENSATION

The Contractor shall carry Worker’s Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by 
federal and state statues having jurisdiction of Consultant’s employees engaged in the 
performance of the work or services; and Employer’s Liability insurance of not less than 
$100,000 for each accident, $100,000 disease for each employee, and $500,000 disease policy 
limit.

In case any work is subcontracted, the Contractor will require the Subcontractor to provide 
Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability to at least the same extent as required of the 
Contractor.

E.  BUILDER’S RISK (PROPERTY) INSURANCE (AS REQUIRED)

When the project includes construction of a new building, an addition to an existing building, 
modifications to an existing building, or as otherwise may be required by the contracting agency, 
the Contractor shall purchase and maintain, on a replacement cost basis, Builder’s Risk insurance 
in the amount of the initial Contract Amount as well as subsequent modifications thereto for the 
entire work at the site.  At a minimum, the policy limits of such insurance shall be equal in face 
amount to the full Contract Amount.  Such Builder’s Risk insurance shall be maintained until final 
payment has been made or until no person or entity other than the City has an insurable interest 
in the property required to be covered, whichever is earlier.  This insurance shall include interests 
of the City, the Contractor, and all Subcontractors and Sub-Subcontractors in the work during the 
life of the Contract and course of construction, and shall continue until the work is completed 
and accepted by the City.  For new construction projects, the Contractor agrees to assume full 
responsibility for loss or damage to the work being performed and to the buildings under 
construction.  For renovation construction projects, the Contractor agrees to assume 
responsibility for loss or damage to the work being performed at least up to the full Contract 
Amount, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents or amendments thereto.

Builder’s Risk insurance shall be on an all-risk policy form and shall cover false work and 
temporary buildings. Builder’s Risk insurance shall insure against risk of direct physical loss or 
damage from external causes including debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement 
of any applicable legal requirements and shall cover reasonable compensation for Architect’s 
service and expenses required as a result of such insured loss and other “soft costs” as required 
by the Contract.

Builder’s Risk insurance must provide coverage from the time any covered property becomes 
Contractor’s control and/or responsibility, and continue without interruption during construction 
or renovation or installation, including any time during which the covered property is being 



8

Amended October 2020

transported to the construction installation site, and while on the construction or installation site 
awaiting installation.  The policy will provide coverage while the covered premises or any part 
thereof is occupied.  Builder’s Risk insurance shall be primary and not contributory.
If the Contract requires testing of equipment or other similar operations, at the option of the 
City, the Contractor will be responsible for providing property insurance for these exposures 
under a Boiler Machinery insurance policy.

Required coverage may be modified by an amendment to the Contract Documents.

CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE

Prior to commencing work or services under this Contract, Contractor shall furnish the City with 
Certificates of Insurance, or formal endorsements as required by the Contract, issued by 
Contractor’s insurer(s), as evidence that policies providing the required coverage, conditions and 
limits required by this Contract are in full force and effect. 

In the event any insurance policies required by this contract are written on a “claims made” basis, 
coverage shall extend for two years past completion and acceptance of the Contractor’s work or 
services and as evidenced by annual Certificates of Insurance. 
If a policy does expire during the life of the Contract, a renewal certificate must be sent to the 
City fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration date.

All Certificates of Insurance shall be identified with bid/project number and project name. A 
$25.00 administrative fee will be assessed for all certificates received without the appropriate 
bid serial number and title.

CANCELLATION AND EXPIRATION NOTICE

Insurance required herein shall not expire, be canceled, or materially changed without thirty (30) 
days written notice to the City.

SECTION 104 - SCOPE OF WORK

104.1.3 WATER SUPPLY:
(revise to include the following)

Potable water may not be used for major construction activity, such as dust control, soil compaction, 
or street cleaning. Reclaimed water is available at the Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment plant on 
East Highway 66 and at the south end of Babbitt Drive at the Rio De Flag Water Reclamation Plant. 
Additional reclaimed water bulk loading sites are located in other areas of the city.  The contractor 
should obtain current locations from the Water Services Department.  Current rates for the 



9

Amended October 2020

reclaimed water shall apply.  The Contractor is responsible for the cost of construction water and it 
is considered incidental to the cost of the contract. 

Prior to loading, hauling and applying reclaimed water, the Contractor shall be required to obtain 
the necessary no fee permit at the Wildcat Hill Wastewater Treatment Plant or from the Rio De Flag 
plant and shall be responsible for complying with all permit and ADEQ requirements regarding the 
use of reclaimed water.

104.1.4 SPECIAL ACCESS REQUIREMENTS:
(revise to include the following)

The Contractor shall maintain access to all side streets, access roads, driveways, alleys, parking lots 
and to adjacent properties during their hours of operation. The Contractor shall coordinate with 
residents and ensure access to all driveways be provided during all non-working hours.  Where a 
property has more than one driveway, no more than one access will be restricted or closed at one 
time.  Should it be necessary to close access to private property, driveways or alley entrances, the 
closure must be for as short a time as possible and be restored at the end of the work shift.  If 
primary business access cannot be restored, the Contractor shall provide an alternate access, which 
will be coordinated with the business and pre-approved by the Owner prior to any restrictions being 
implemented.

104.1.5 SANITATION PICKUP:
When construction activity interferes with pickup, the contractor shall provide for sanitation and 
recycling vehicle access to the affected properties or relocate the containers where access is 
acceptable.  

104.1.6 EMERGENCY ACCESS:
Street closure information shall be submitted to the City’s Project Representative who will forward 
the information to the Fire Department and Police Department.  All notices shall be submitted at 
least 72 hours in advance of the closures.

104.1.7 POSTAL SERVICE ACCESS:
The contractor shall be responsible for maintaining access for Postal Service within the project area 
at all times.

104.1.8 SCHOOL BUS ACCESS:
The contractor shall be responsible for maintaining access for bus access within the project area. 

104.2 ALTERATION OF THE WORK:



10

Amended October 2020

104.2.3 DUE TO EXTRA WORK:
(revise to include the following)

When Allowance and/or Contingency items are provided for in the contract, the funds are 
encumbered for use at the discretion of the Project Manager.  The funds are to cover unanticipated 
costs to complete items of work not included in the Contract Documents or may be applied to any 
work deemed necessary by the Owner.  Work would include, but not limited to, unanticipated 
conditions, scope changes, addressing errors or omissions, and/or construction changes that are 
warranted for project completion consistent with the purpose of the work. 

The amount of the allowance item is determined by the City and is not subject to individual bid 
pricing.  The allowance is not part of the bidding process and per the City of Flagstaff Procurement 
Manual, will be added to the contract amount, if approved by the City Council.

The allowance item provides an estimated funding to cover unforeseen changes that may be 
encountered and corresponding extra work needed to complete the contract.  Any work which is to 
be paid out of this allowance shall be authorized in writing and approved by Field Order prior to 
proceeding with the work.  Extra work shall be paid for in the following order of precedence: 
1.) by extension of unit bid prices, 2.) by negotiated price or 3.) by a time and materials basis in 
accordance with MAG Section 109.5. 

It shall be understood that the amount for this item in the proposal is an estimate only and no 
guarantee is given that the full amount or any portion thereof will be utilized.  It shall not be utilized 
without first obtaining an approved Field Order signed by the Contractor and the Project Manager.

105.2.1 RECORD DRAWING PREPARATION AND COORDINATION
(revise to include new subsection as follows)

Record drawing preparation shall be the obligation of the Contractor whose purpose is to accurately 
record and depict the as-built conditions. During the construction phase and prior to backfilling or 
covering of improvements, the Contractor shall have the work surveyed and recorded for record 
drawing preparation.  

The Contractor shall maintain a redline working copy of the project plans which shall include changes 
made in construction of the project.  The redline copy of the plans shall be updated weekly. 

105.2.2 RECORD DRAWING (As-Built Plans)



11

Amended October 2020

(revise to include new subsection as follows)

The Contractor shall retain an Arizona licensed civil engineer to record as-built information per 
Arizona Revised Statute § 32-152.  Water and sewer record drawing certification shall comply with 
ADEQ R18-5-508 (drinking water) and ADEQ R18-9-E301 (sewage collection) requirements for as-
built drawings.  Unless otherwise noted, the City will complete and submit the Engineer’s Certificate 
of Completion to ADEQ.  

Prior to the City’s final approval and acceptance of public improvements (sanitary sewer, water, 
storm sewer, streets) record drawings (as-built plans) must be submitted to the City for review and 
acceptance per Engineering Standard Specifications.  

A redline submittal shall be a .pdf and/or two sets of blue or black line paper sets, copied from the 
originally approved plan set.  Redline submittal will be reviewed by the City and returned with 
applicable comments.  Comments are to be addressed and resubmitted for the City’s final approval.  
A reference checklist is available from the Office of the City Engineer.  

Upon City and ADEQ (when applicable) review and approval of the submittal, an electronic .pdf of 
the plans shall be submitted to the City as a permanent record. All record drawing plan sets shall 
contain a statement by a licensed professional engineer, currently registered to practice in Arizona, 
certifying that the drawings are per the as-built condition.  The record set requires the seal and 
signature of the registrant per Arizona Revised Statutes § 32-152. All survey data given by the record 
drawings shall be performed by a land surveyor who is currently registered in the State of Arizona.  
Plans must show seal and signature of registrant.

Payment shall be lump sum for all work required to develop the necessary documents, including but 
not limited to coordination, field inspection, survey, drafting, printing and engineer’s seal. The fee 
shall include as-built information for all record changes within the project area.   

SECTION 105 - CONTROL OF WORK

105.8 CONSTRUCTION STAKES, LINES AND GRADES:
(revise entire subsection to read as follows)

The Contractor shall be responsible for all required construction staking, including preconstruction 
staking for relocation of existing utilities.  All construction staking is to be done under the direct 
supervision of a Registered Land Surveyor or Civil Engineer.  All costs associated with this work are 
to be included in the amount bid for the items of work to which it is incidental or appurtenant.  No 
separate payment will be made for construction staking. 

105.10 INSPECTION OF THE WORK



12

Amended October 2020

(revise to include the following)

The Contractor is responsible for Quality Control of the work.  The City will perform Quality 
Assurance; frequency of testing will be determined by the City.  The Contractor shall be responsible 
for coordinating and scheduling all inspections of the work and shall confirm that the required 
inspections and material testing are completed and accepted prior to proceeding with additional 
work.  The Contractor is required to perform the work to a confidence level that the City’s Quality 
Assurance will validate that the work meets specification(s).
 
105.11 REMOVAL OF UNACCEPTABLE AND UNAUTHORIZED WORK:

(revise to include the following)

Any work and/or materials condemned by the Project Manager as inferior or not in compliance with 
the Contract, Specifications and Plans shall be immediately removed by the Contractor.  Materials 
and/or work so condemned shall be removed and promptly replaced and executed in accordance 
with the Contract, Specifications and Plans without any expense to the Owner.  The Contractor shall 
bear the expense of making good on all work of other contractors destroyed or damaged by such 
removal and replacement.

105.12 MAINTENANCE DURING CONSTRUCTION:
(revise to include the following)

The Contractor is responsible to provide adequate drainage for the construction area at all times.  
Damage to any portion of the work caused by the Contractor's failure to provide adequate drainage 
of the construction area shall be repaired at the Contractor's expense.  A contract time extension 
will not be granted for any additional time required to make such repairs.

The Contractor shall control open excavations and stockpiling in a manner to prevent water from 
running into excavations.  Obstructions of surface drainage shall be avoided and means shall be 
provided whereby storm water and wastewater can flow uninterrupted in existing or established 
pipes, flow courses, other surface drains, temporary drains or channels.  

Material for backfill or for protection of excavations within public roads or easements shall be placed 
and shaped to cause the least possible interference to public travel.  In no event shall any flows be 
allowed to enter private property.

105.16 MAINTENANCE DURING WINTER SUSPENSION OF WORK



13

Amended October 2020

(revise to include new subsection as follows) 

The City retains the right to declare a winter shutdown, for any reason, on the Project including but 
not limited to adverse weather conditions.  A winter shutdown period is typically December through 
March during which no work will be performed on the Project.   

The Contractor shall shutdown, properly insulate and shelter the Project in a safe and workmanlike 
manner pursuant to local, state and federal laws.  

If work has been suspended due to winter weather, the Contractor shall be responsible for 
maintenance and protection of the improvements and of partially completed portions of the work 
until final acceptance of the project.  Winter suspension shall be by field order, change order or 
original contract. If repairs and/or maintenance are needed during the suspension, the Contractor 
is required to perform the repairs and/or maintenance within twenty-four (24) hours of notification 
from the City.  If the needed repairs and/or maintenance are not addressed within the timeframe, 
the City will accomplish the work and deduct the cost from monies due or become due to the 
Contractor.  

The City shall provide snow removal operations on active traffic lanes only.  All other snow removal 
and maintenance operations shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. All cost associated with 
snow removal and proper disposal shall be considered incidental to the work including the repair of 
temporary surface improvements due to normal wear and snow removal operations during the 
Winter Shutdown.  

SECTION 107 - LEGAL REGULATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITY TO THE PUBLIC

107.1 LAWS TO BE OBSERVED:
(revise to include the following)

(G) TAX EXEMPTION:  Certain material, machinery and equipment to be installed in this project is 
exempt from sales tax or use tax as allowed in Arizona Revised Statutes Section 42-5061, 42-5009 
and Section 42-5159 and by the Administrative Rules and Regulations of the Arizona Department of 
Revenue; ACC R15-5-608, R15-5-120 and R15-5-2314. 

The City wishes to rely upon the expertise of the contractor in the purchase of items that qualify for 
the tax exemption.  With respect to purchase of the qualifying items, the Contractor is authorized 
to act as an agent for the City.  This agency agreement is strictly limited to the purchase of the 
qualifying items to be used in the construction of the project and will not otherwise affect or alter 
the respective rights, responsibilities and remedies of the parties as specified under this contract. 
The contractor shall furnish the City a list of suppliers and the material, machinery and equipment 



14

Amended October 2020

to be furnished by each.  The City will then issue the materials and equipment exemption certificate 
to each supplier pursuant to A.R.S. §42-5009 (A) (2).  The contractor's applicable unit bid prices for 
items qualifying for this tax exemption should not include sales or use tax. The materials, machinery 
and equipment that are a part of this project and to which the exemption applies are listed below:
  

1. Pipes, valves and appurtenances four (4) inches in diameter or larger used to 
transport potable water,

2. Any additional material, machinery or equipment identified in the Special Provisions.

107.2.1 TEMPORARY USE PERMITS:
(revise to include new subsection as follows)

A Temporary Use Permit (and Above Ground Fuel Storage Permit if applicable) is required prior to 
the establishment of any temporary construction yard, material storage area or staging area located 
within City limits and outside the public right-of-way or project limits. The Contractor is responsible 
for obtaining the necessary Temporary Use Permit from the agency with jurisdictional authority.

The time required to process the Temporary Use Permit is approximately twelve (12) calendar days. 
The Contractor shall submit the necessary permit application no later than ten (10) calendar days 
following the Notice of Award. Any delays experienced by the Contractor in acquiring the Temporary 
Use Permit shall not necessarily be grounds for delaying the project Notice to Proceed.

107.2.2 DISPOSAL OF WASTE AND SURPLUS MATERIAL:
(revise to include the following)

All disposal costs, regardless of disposal site, shall be included in the bid unit price for the related 
item of work and no direct payment will be made for disposal of waste or surplus materials.  This 
right of disposal does not apply to any substance or items that are regarded as toxic and/or 
hazardous by the City, the State of Arizona or the United States Government.

Alternate disposal sites may be proposed by the Contractor but are subject to all applicable local 
ordinances and codes.  In addition to the property owner's written authorization, all disposal sites 
within the city limits are subject to review and approval by the Temporary Use Permit process.  The 
disposal of material at alternate disposal sites will not be allowed without written authorization of 
the owner, approval of the appropriate jurisdictional authority, and the issuance of all necessary 
permits.

107.2.3 ABOVE GROUND FUEL STORAGE PERMIT:



15

Amended October 2020

(revise to include new subsection as follows)

If required, Above Ground Fuel Storage Permits may be obtained from the City of Flagstaff Fire 
Department, located at 211 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ.  The Contractor is responsible for 
obtaining the permit.  

107.5 SAFETY, HEALTH, AND SANITATION PROVISIONS:

107.5.4 HANDLING, REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS MATERIAL AND ASBESTOS 
CONTAINING MATERIALS (ACM)
(revise to include new subsection as follows)

The Contractor is responsible for handling, removal and disposal of all soil material generated by 
the project as described in the General Provisions.

The City requires compliance with Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Arizona Department 
of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) and Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) 
asbestos regulations for all City projects. 

Utility pipes constructed of materials other than metal or polyvinyl chloride (PVC) require testing 
prior to any disturbance of the pipes to determine if regulated levels of asbestos are present in 
the pipe material. Suspect pipe materials requiring testing typically include vitrified clay and 
cement pipe (transite). Asbestos testing is not required for metal pipes. 

City Public Works/Sustainability & Environmental Management staff are available to collect 
samples and submit the samples for analyses.  The City of Flagstaff will provide testing free of 
charge. If the pipe does not contain regulated levels of asbestos, the contractor may disturb and 
remove the piping.  If utility piping contains regulated levels of asbestos, an asbestos abatement 
contractor must perform any disturbance/removal of the pipe materials. This is required to 
ensure workers are not exposed to any asbestos fibers.

Work may require the proper handling, removal and disposal of regulated asbestos piping and 
materials generated by cutting or breaking the pipe to remove it from the ground.  If asbestos 
containing materials (ACM) removal is necessary on the project, the City of Flagstaff 
requirements for handling, removal and disposal are as follows:

 If an infrastructure or building material that is not either wood, glass or metal is 
encountered during the project and has not yet been either assumed or positively 
identified to be ACM then the material(s) must be sampled in accordance with regulations 
generated by the EPA Asbestos Hazard and Emergency Response Act (AHERA) 40 CFR 763 
as well as OSHA 29 CFR 1910.1101, by a certified AHERA Building Inspector and sent to a 
National Voluntary Laboratory Accreditation Program (NVLAP) certified laboratory for 
analysis.  



16

Amended October 2020

 Once materials of concern are assumed or properly identified to be ACM then material 
removal is required according to OSHA 29 CFR 1910-1926.1101 by a certified asbestos 
abatement worker, and NOT a general contractor (GC). However, if the GC holds the 
appropriate asbestos certifications (AHERA Asbestos Operations and Maintenance), 
which the City would need to verify is current, then the GC could perform the asbestos 
abatement.  

The City requires the General Contractor arrange for abatement of assumed and/or identified 
ACM by a certified asbestos abatement contractor and to arrange area and/or clearance air 
monitoring by a third party certified asbestos consultant.  If applicable to the project, copies of 
abatement activities and air monitoring shall be provided to City of Flagstaff Environmental 
Management staff.

In the event of large disturbances to ACM, compliance with the National Emission Standards for 
Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) 40 CFR 61, Subpart M shall be followed. Notification would 
be required the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality 10 working days in advance of the 
start of a large project. This notification is not typically required for utility pipe work, but could 
be required for a very large project involving numerous saw cuts of utility pipes.  
http://www.azdeq.gov/environ/air/asbestos/

If ACM removal is necessary on the project, the City of Flagstaff requirements for ACM disposal 
at the City’s Cinder Lake Landfill are as follows:

Only non-friable asbestos waste is accepted for disposal at Cinder Lake Landfill.  PRIOR to disposal 
of non-friable ACM, obtain the necessary forms, which are:

• Non-Friable Asbestos Waste Acceptance Application and accompanying 
instructions

• Non-Friable Asbestos Waste Shipment Record (WSR)

The Asbestos Waste Acceptance Application is available at the City of Flagstaff’s website or by 
contacting the City of Flagstaff Environmental Management staff.   A Waste Shipment Record is 
required to accompany each load of non-friable asbestos waste taken to the Cinder Lake Landfill.  

Assure the non-friable ACM is properly handled and wrapped.  Non-friable ACM must be 
thoroughly wetted using amended water PRIOR to being wrapped in 6-millimeter poly and be 
tightly sealed with duct tape.  If the material is heavy (such as transite pipe), has sharp edges, or 
may easily puncture the poly wrap, a double layer of poly will be necessary.  The Cinder Lake 
Landfill scale house attendant will inspect the load to ensure it is properly wrapped.  Containers 
holding non-friable ACM shall be carefully unloaded and placed in a designated location.  
Dumping using a hydraulically lifted bed of a truck is not permitted (dump truck), as the poly 
wrap may be torn open.

http://www.azdeq.gov/environ/air/asbestos/


17

Amended October 2020

If using a large bin for disposal, attach a copy of the Waste Shipment Record to the disposal bin.  
If not using a City of Flagstaff disposal bin, make sure the delivery driver takes a copy of the 
SIGNED Non-Friable Asbestos Waste Acceptance Application and the Waste Shipment Record to 
the Cinder Lakes Landfill with the waste delivery.  

If using a City of Flagstaff disposal bin call City Environmental Services at (928) 774-0668 to 
schedule a pick-up for the disposal bin.  Please be sure to provide the driver with the SIGNED 
Non-Friable Asbestos Waste Acceptance Application and the Waste Shipment Record and be sure 
to clarify if you would like the disposal bin emptied and removed, or emptied and returned to 
the work site.  When disposal is completed, the Landfill Manager will sign the Waste Shipment 
Record and landfill staff will provide or mail a copy of the Waste Shipment Record.

Cutting of utility pipes generates Regulated Asbestos Containing Material (RACM).  RACM 
requires disposal at the Joseph City Landfill or at other landfills located in southern Arizona.  

All work relating to the removal and disposal of unknown and unanticipated hazardous materials 
as described above shall be paid per MAG 109.4.3.  

107.8 107 USE OF EXPLOSIVES:
(first paragraph, revise second sentence to read as follows)

The Contractor shall submit a blasting plan for approval and obtain a Blasting Permit from the City 
of Flagstaff Fire Department, located at 211 W. Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, Arizona.

(revise to include the following)

The Contractor shall submit a copy of the approved blasting plan to the Project Manager.  The plan 
shall include as a minimum; safety layout, drilling pattern, size and depth of bore, weight and type 
of charge, delay sequence, contractor's anticipated peak particle velocity at the right-of-way line or 
nearest structure, and the proposed seismograph locations.

A record of each blast shall be kept and all records including seismograph reports shall be available 
for inspection. Each record shall provide as a minimum; location, date and time of blast, name of 
person in charge, number of holes burdened, spacing, diameter and depth of holes, boring logs to 
determine top of rock, type and total amount of explosives used, direction and distance to nearest 
building, type of detonators and delay periods used, and exact locations of seismographs.

When blasting operations are to be conducted within 200 feet of a water line, sewer line or other 
underground utility, the Contractor shall take additional precautionary measures.  The Contractor 
shall also coordinate with Franchise Utilities prior to blasting operations. The Contractor shall notify 
the owner of the facility a minimum of two weeks in advance that such blasting operations are 



18

Amended October 2020

intended.  At their discretion, the Owner may perform pre-blast, post-blast pressure tests or other 
inspection of the facility.  If any damage occurs because of blasting operations, the Contractor shall 
be responsible for the restoration of the facility to pre-blast conditions.

107.9 PROTECTION AND RESTORATION OF PROPERTY AND LANDSCAPE:
(revise to include the following)

The Contractor is responsible for replacing and/or restoring the site, landscaping and owner’s 
improvements associated with the project to the pre-existing condition using in-kind materials.  All 
cost shall be included in the bid as incidental to the work, unless otherwise specified in the bid 
schedule or plans.  

Within easements, the Contractor is responsible for removing existing improvements and 
salvaging items (not identified for removal) for relocation after the public improvements are 
completed.  Close coordination between the Contractor and property owners and/or residents is 
required.

107.11 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR UTILITY PROPERTY AND SERVICES:
(revise to include the following)

All power poles, pedestals, guy wires and underground facilities shall be removed and/or relocated 
by the respective owners of the facilities. The contractor is responsible for the notification and 
coordination with the utility companies to ensure that this work is accomplished in a manner 
consistent with the construction schedule.  Payment for Franchise Utility coordination and location 
is incidental to the cost of the work. 

The Contractor shall perform utility potholes and identify potential conflicts prior to trenching.  The 
utility pothole information and identification of potential conflicts shall be provided to the Project 
Manager at least two weeks prior to performing trenching or pipeline construction.  

SECTION 108 - COMMENCEMENT, PROSECUTION AND PROGRESS

108.1 NOTICE TO PROCEED:
(revise to include the following)

Time is of the essence in submitting the initial and revised construction schedule and traffic control 
plan. Each is a requirement that precedes the Contractor's right and the City's obligation to proceed 
with the agreement.



19

Amended October 2020

The Notice to Proceed shall be issued for a start date no later than twenty-seven (27) calendar days 
following receipt of the Notice of Award. The Contractor shall be required to submit a construction 
schedule and traffic control plan in accordance with the Contract Documents and the following:

The Contractor shall within seven (7) calendar days of receiving the Notice of Award, submit a 
construction schedule and traffic control plan to the Project Manager.  The Project Manager shall 
promptly review the construction schedule and traffic control plan and either approve them, or 
provide a written list of the items that will require revision. The Contractor shall submit the revised 
construction schedule and traffic control plan within five (5) calendar days of receiving the Project 
Manager's list of required revisions.  The corrected construction schedule and traffic control plan 
submittal shall address all comments from the Project Manager's list of required revisions.

108.3 CORRESPONDENCE TO THE CONTRACTOR:
(revise to include the following)

In addition to written communication to the Project Manager, the Contractor shall provide and 
maintain a contact located within ten miles of the job site at all times throughout the duration of 
the Contract.  The designated contact shall be accessible by telephone at all times to respond to 
agency requirements and emergencies.  The local location and phone number(s) shall be provided 
to the Project Manager prior to issuance of the Notice to Proceed.  Any changes of the location or 
phone number(s) shall be reported immediately to the Project Manager. 

If a response is needed, the Contractor is required to respond and perform the repairs and/or 
maintenance within two (2) hours of notification from the City.  If the needed repairs and/or 
maintenance are not addressed within the timeframe, the City will accomplish the work and deduct 
the cost from monies due or become due to the Contractor.

108.4 CONTRACTOR'S CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE:
(revise to include the following)

  The Contractor’s schedule shall include, as a minimum, the following:

 Identification of project tasks with assigned dates and durations, which reflect anticipated 
sequencing of construction activities on scheduled working days;

 All anticipated subcontractors that will be used during the course of the work;
 The anticipated number of crews to expedite the progress and ensure prompt completion of the 

work;
Definition of a crew;

 personnel (e.g. operator, laborer)
 equipment (e.g. Cat 325 Excavator, 950 Loader) 
 workdays anticipated or scheduled per week (e.g. Monday through Friday)
 work hours anticipated or scheduled per day (e.g. 7:00 am to 3:30 pm)



20

Amended October 2020

 Anticipated adverse weather days for weather dependent activities, weekends and holidays. 
 Specific long lead times for delivery of equipment and materials;
 Critical path project schedules may be required as provided for by the Special Provisions or 

Project Addenda.

108.5 LIMITATION OF OPERATIONS:
(third paragraph, revise to read as follows)

Except in emergencies endangering life or property, written permission shall be obtained from the 
City prior to performing any work on weekends, legal holidays or after regular work hours 
(hereinafter defined as 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. - Monday through Friday). Work on Saturdays will be 
permitted with prior approval by the City’s Engineering Inspection Supervisor.  72 hours advance 
notice will be required.  Work on Sundays and legal City Holidays will not be permitted except in 
emergencies or as approved by the owner.  Inspection and testing will not be provided on Sundays 
or City legal holidays without prior approval from the Project Manager (72-hour advance notice) and 
full compensation by the Contractor for any necessary personnel, equipment and services.

Overtime compensation for City personnel shall be as follows:
Construction Supervisor @ $ 43.00/hour
Inspector II @ $ 35.00/hour
Inspector I @ $30.00/hour
Lab Tech I @ $ 25.00/hour
Vehicle @ $1.80/hour

108.7 DETERMINATION AND EXTENSION OF CONTRACT TIME:
(revise to include the following)

The contract time, including final clean-up of the project site and storage areas, may be extended 
because of weather conditions that cannot be reasonably anticipated. The number of actual days 
that the scheduled work is impacted by adverse weather shall be recorded weekly during the 
construction period.

The Contractor will be entitled to a contract time extension if the actual adverse weather days 
experienced during the work exceed the anticipated adverse weather days shown. The following is 
the monthly schedule of adverse weather days that shall be anticipated by the Contractor in 
scheduling the work:



21

Amended October 2020

TABLE 108.7 MONTHLY CALENDAR DAYS for ANTICIPATED ADVERSE WEATHER 

The above schedule of anticipated adverse weather days establishes the base line for the project's 
monthly weather impacts based on historical records, as recorded by the National Weather Service 
at Pulliam Airport, for precipitation in excess of 0.01 of an inch per calendar day.
The number of actual days that scheduled work is impacted by adverse weather as defined above 
shall be recorded weekly during the contract period. It is the Contractor's responsibility to request 
in writing any adverse weather delays experienced during the prior week no later than the normally 
scheduled weekly project meeting.  Any adverse weather day requests that are not received, as 
stated above, shall neither be considered nor approved. Once the number of approved actual 
adverse weather days exceeds the number of anticipated adverse weather days in the schedule 
above, the Contractor is entitled to a contract time extension.  

Actual adverse weather days must also prevent work for fifty (50) percent or more of the 
Contractor's work day and delay scheduled work critical to the timely completion of the project. The 
City will convert any delays meeting the above requirements to calendar days and extend the 
contract period as necessary. No additional compensation will be allowed for direct and indirect 
overhead expenses associated with any such contract time extensions.  The Contractor's schedule 
must include the above anticipated adverse weather delays for all weather dependent activities and 
shall show all weekends and holidays.

108.8 GUARANTEE AND WARRANTY PROVISIONS:
(revise to include the following)

If requested by the City, the Contractor shall return to the project site eleven months after 
acceptance of the project and visually inspect, in the presence of the Owner's Representative, all 
accessible construction items and appurtenances.  All defective materials and/or workmanship shall 
be satisfactorily repaired or replaced at the sole expense of the Contractor.

All costs for the 11-month inspection and repair shall be borne by the Contractor and in figuring his 
or her bid, the Contractor shall include an appropriate amount for such inspection and possible 
required repair, and no additional payment will be allowed.

MONTH JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE

Monthly Calendar Days for 
Anticipated Adverse Weather

7 Days 7 Days 8 Days 6 Days 4 Days 3 Days

Average Monthly Precipitation 1.98” 1.96” 2.05” 1.34” 0.68” 0.51”
MONTH JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMEBER DECEMBER

Monthly Calendar Days for 
Anticipated Adverse Weather

12 Days 11 Days 7 Days 5 Days 5 Days 6 Days

Average Monthly Precipitation 2.78” 2.68” 1.82” 1.52” 1.49” 1.90”



22

Amended October 2020

108.10 FORFEITURE AND DEFAULT OF CONTRACT:
(revise to include new section)

Due to Failure to Prosecute the Work
If the Contractor fails to prosecute the work in accordance with the contract, including requirements 
of the progress schedule, the City may correct these deficiencies after three days after providing 
written notice to the Contractor.  The cost of these remedies shall be charged against the Contractor.  
A change order may be issued to make the necessary changes in the contract and to make an 
appropriate reduction in the contract price.  Such a change order shall not require the signature or 
approval of the Contractor.  The remedy shall not prejudice the City’s use of any other remedy, 
which the City may be entitled to use.  

108.12 AUTHORIZED SIGNATURES:
(revise to include new section)

The Contractor shall provide a notarized list of all authorized signatures for project related 
documents.  Only those individuals listed by the Contractor on the project Authorized Signature 
form shall be authorized to sign the contract, contract change orders, time extensions, bonds, 
securities, pay requests, certifications or other documents that affect the execution of the Contract.

108.13 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION:
(revise to include new section)

The project is substantially complete within the contract time and liquidated damages will no 
longer be assessed when the following have occurred:

(A) All contract items of work have been substantially completed and pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic can move unimpeded through the project;

(B) The only work left for completion is incidental, causes no disruption to pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic, and does not affect the safety and convenience of the public;

The decision whether the project is substantially complete is within the sole discretion of the 
Project Manager.  At that time, a Substantial Completion letter will be issued by the City to the 
Contractor. 

The remaining incidental work shall be completed within 15 calendar days from the issuance of 
the Substantial Completion letter.  Failure to prosecute the remaining work within this time-
period will result in the resumption of time charges and the application of liquidated damages 
from the date scheduled for final acceptance and start of warranty.



23

Amended October 2020

The start of the project warranty period will be established in the Notice of Final Acceptance and 
does not begin with substantial completion.  

The Contractor is responsible for correction and repair of any project deficiencies until the end 
of the warranty period established in the Notice of Final Acceptance at which time the City will 
accept the improvements for operation and maintenance.

108.14 SUSPENSION and TERMINATION:
(revise to include new section)

CITY’S RIGHT TO STOP WORK

The City may, at its discretion and without cause, order the Contractor in writing to stop and 
suspend the Work.  Such suspension shall not exceed one hundred and eighty (180) consecutive 
days. 

The Contractor may seek an adjustment of the Contract Price and/or Contract Time if its cost or 
time to perform the Work has been adversely impacted by any suspension or stoppage of Work 
by the City.
 
TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE

Upon receipt of written notice to the Contractor, the City may, at its discretion and without cause, 
elect to terminate this Agreement.  In such event, the City shall pay the Contractor only the direct 
value of its completed Work and materials supplied as of the date of termination.  The Contractor 
shall be entitled to profit and overhead on completed Work only but shall not be entitled to 
anticipated profit or anticipated overhead.

If the City suspends the Work for one hundred eighty-one (181) consecutive days or more, such 
suspension shall be deemed a termination for convenience.

Upon such termination, the Contractor shall proceed with the following obligations.
1. Stop Work as specified in the notice.
2. Place no further subcontracts or orders.
3. Terminate all subcontracts to the extent they relate to the work terminated.  The 

Contractor shall ensure that all subcontracts contain this same termination for convenience 
provision.

4. At the City’s sole discretion and if requested in writing by the City, assign to the City all right, 
title and interest of the Contractor under the subcontracts subject to termination.  

5. Take any action that may be necessary for the protection and preservation of the property 
related to this Agreement that is in the possession of the Contractor and in which the City 
has or may acquire an interest.



24

Amended October 2020

6. The Contractor shall submit complete termination inventory schedules no later than one
hundred twenty (120) days from the date of the notice of termination.

The City shall pay the Contractor the following:
1. The direct value of its completed Work and materials supplied as of the date of termination.
2. The reasonable and direct, actual costs and expenses attributable to such termination.

Reasonable costs and expenses shall not include, among other things, anticipated profit,
anticipated overhead, or costs arising from the Contractor’s failure to perform as required
under this Agreement.

3. The Contractor shall be entitled to profit and overhead on completed Work only but shall
not be entitled to anticipated profit or anticipated overhead.  If it is determined that the
Contractor would have sustained a loss on the entire Work had they been completed, the
Contractor shall not be allowed profit and the City shall reduce the settlement to reflect the
indicated rate of loss.

The Contractor shall maintain all records and documents for three (3) years after final settlement. 
These records shall be maintained and subject to auditing as prescribed in Section 7.7.  

THE CITY’S RIGHT TO PERFORM AND TERMINATE FOR CAUSE

If the City provides the Contractor with a written order to provide adequate maintenance of 
traffic, adequate cleanup, adequate dust control or to correct deficiencies or damage resulting 
from abnormal weather conditions and the Contractor fails to comply in a time frame specified, 
the City may have work accomplished by other sources at Contractor’s sole expense. 

If the Contractor persistently fails to 
1. provide a sufficient number of skilled workers,
2. supply the materials required by the Contract Documents,
3. comply with applicable Legal Requirements,
4. timely pay, without cause, sub-consultants and/or subcontractors,
5. prosecute the Work with promptness and diligence to ensure that the Work is

completed by the Contract Time, as such times may be adjusted, or 
6. perform material obligations under the Contract Documents, then the City, in
addition to any other rights and remedies provided in the Contract Documents or by law, 
shall have the rights set forth below.  

Upon the occurrence of an event set forth above, the City may provide written notice to the 
Contractor that it intends to terminate this Agreement unless the problem cited is cured, or 
commenced to be cured, within seven (7) days of the Contractor’s receipt of such notice.  

If the Contractor fails to cure, or reasonably commence to cure, such problem, then the City may 
give a second written notice to the Contractor of its intent to terminate within an additional 
seven (7) day period.  



25

Amended October 2020

If the Contractor, within such second seven (7) day period, fails to cure, or reasonably commence 
to cure, such problem, then the City may declare this Agreement terminated for default by 
providing written notice to the Contractor of such declaration.

Upon declaring this Agreement terminated and for the purpose of completing the Work, the City 
may enter upon the premises and take possession of all materials, equipment, scaffolds, tools, 
appliances and other items thereon, which have been purchased or provided for the 
performance of the Work.  The Contractor hereby transfers, assigns and conveys all items, which 
have been purchased or provided for the performance of the Work to the City for such purpose 
and to employ any person or persons to complete the Work and provide all of the required labor, 
services, materials, equipment and other items.  

In the event of such termination, the Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further 
payments under the Contract Documents until the Work shall be finally completed in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. At such time, the Contractor shall be entitled to be paid only for 
Work performed and accepted by the City prior to its default.  

If the City’s cost and expense of completing the Work exceeds the unpaid balance of the Contract 
Price, then the Contractor shall be obligated to pay the difference to the City.  Such costs and 
expenses shall include not only the cost of completing the Work, but also losses, damages, costs 
and expense, including attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred by the City in connection with the 
re-procurement and defense of claims arising from the Contractor’s default. 

If the City improperly terminates the Agreement for cause, the termination for cause shall be 
converted to a termination for convenience in accordance with the provisions of 108.14

SECTION 109 - MEASUREMENTS AND PAYMENTS

109.1 MEASUREMENT OF QUANTITIES:
(revise to include the following)

It is the responsibility of the Contractor to conform to the Contract Documents, including plans, 
typical sections and specifications including but not be limited to dimensions, materials, application 
rates and densities.  The Contractor shall take all actions necessary to ensure that the work conforms 
to the contract documents.  The Contractor shall cooperate fully with the Project Manager or Project 
Manager's representative to correct any known nonconformity to the contract documents.



26

Amended October 2020

109.1 MEASUREMENT OF QUANTITIES:
(delete the second paragraph)

Unless otherwise specified, longitudinal and surface (plane) measurements will be made in a 
horizontal plane.  

PART 200 - EARTHWORK

SECTION 201 - CLEARING AND GRUBBING

201.3 CONSTRUCTION METHODS:
(revise to include the following)

The Contractor shall make every effort possible to avoid damaging existing trees.  In the event that 
any trees suffer limb damage, the Contractor shall cut branches to the nearest branch crotch or to 
the branch collar at the trunk.  

No separate payment will be made for trimming trees.  The cost shall be considered incidental to 
the work.

SECTION 205 – ROADWAY EXCAVATION

205.1 DESCRIPTION
(revise to include the following)

The bid schedule unit cost for excavation, backfill and embankment work shall include the cost of 
rock excavation, handling rock or disposing of rock and no separate measurement or payment shall 
be made.  Rock shall be defined as any highly cemented or hard material that may require additional 
efforts for removal, handling or disposal. 

205.2 UNSUITABLE MATERIAL:
(third paragraph, revise to read as follows)

Should unsuitable material be encountered at subgrade elevation in cut areas or at existing grade in 
fill areas, the unsuitable material shall be removed and replaced with suitable fill material in 
accordance with MAG Section 210 and MAG Section 211.  

Determination of unsuitable material and the limits and depths of required removal and 
replacement shall be at the sole discretion of the Project Manager.  In no case shall any unsuitable 
material be removed without prior written consent of the Project Manager.



27

Amended October 2020

Measurement and payment for removal and replacement of unsuitable material will be by the cubic 
yard as shown in the proposal.  Payment shall be compensation in full for the work complete and 
in-place including any borrow, permits, pit royalties, all excavation, hauling, placing, compacting, 
conditioning, watering and proper disposal, together with all appurtenant costs. 

205.3 MEASUREMENT 
(revise to include the following)
Earthwork is incidental to the roadway construction and no additional payment will be made for 
roadway excavation. The Contractor shall be responsible for estimating and accounting for 
earthwork import and haul off. It is recommended that the Contractor review the report on 
geotechnical investigation and sampling results.

PART 300 -- STREETS AND RELATED WORK

SECTION 301 - SUB-GRADE PREPARATION

301.1 DESCRIPTION:
(revise to include the following)

The untreated base or prepared subgrade shall be test rolled in the presence of the Project Manager 
prior to the placement of asphalt paving materials.  The equipment used to perform the test roll 
shall be approved by the Project Manager.  The Contractor shall be responsible for scheduling this 
test roll with the Inspector during regularly scheduled work.  All costs associated with the test roll 
shall be considered incidental to and included in the cost of sub-grade preparation.  

SECTION 336 - PAVEMENT MATCHING AND SURFACING REPLACEMENT

336.1 DESCRIPTION:
(first paragraph, revise to include the following)

The exact points of pavement matching shall be determined in the field by the Project Manager.

336.2 MATERIALS AND CONSTRUCTION METHODS:

336.2.1 PAVEMENT WIDENING OR EXTENSIONS:
(first paragraph, revise second sentence to read as follows)

The minimum depth of cut shall be four (4) inches or Depth/4, whichever is greater.  



28

Amended October 2020

PART 400 -- RIGHT-OF-WAY AND TRAFFIC CONTROL

SECTION 401 - TRAFFIC CONTROL

401.5 GENERAL TRAFFIC REGULATIONS:
(revise to include the following)

Within seven (7) calendar days following receipt of the Notice of Award and in accordance with 
Section 108.1 of these General Provisions, the Contractor shall submit to the Project Manager a 
traffic control plan that shows the control of traffic in accordance with Part VI of the FHWA Manual 
on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for all phases of the work.  The plan should include nights, 
weekends, shut down periods and an approximate schedule of street closures and detours.

The Traffic Control Plan is to detail the Contractor's proposal for routing traffic and pedestrians 
around the areas of construction.  The Plan shall be coordinated with the proposed construction 
schedule and show how the locations of the various traffic and pedestrian control devices will 
change as construction progresses.  The Plan shall allow for complete detours around the work 
areas.

Private and commercial driveways shall not be closed for any period exceeding eight hours during 
any twenty-four-hour period.  The affected resident and the City shall be notified 48 hours in 
advance of any closure.  Convenient access to driveways, houses and buildings along the line of work 
shall be maintained and temporary crossings or alternate access shall be provided and maintained 
in good condition, except during that period mentioned above.  Business access shall be maintained 
at all times by at least one driveway.

(eleventh paragraph, revise to read as follows)

The Contractor will reinstall all permanent traffic control devices as required by the approved 
construction plans and specifications.

(twelfth paragraph, delete the last sentence)

Delete - The Traffic Engineering Department will reinstall all traffic signs. 

401.7 PAYMENT:
(revise paragraph to read as follows)

Payment for all work and materials required to prepare a traffic control plan and provide traffic 
control during construction shall be made at the lump sum price shown on the Bid Schedule.  Full 
compensation for any required traffic control devices, flaggers, uniformed off-duty law enforcement 



29

Amended October 2020

officers, pilot cars and drivers shall be included in the lump sum contract price and no additional 
payment shall be allowed.  Progress payments shall be made based on the Contractor’s estimate for 
percent complete as approved by the Owner.  

SECTION 425 TOPSOIL

425.2 MATERIALS:
(revise to read as follows)

Overburden topsoil shall be salvaged and reused when possible.  All topsoil, whether overburden or 
imported, shall be free of roots, heavy clay, clods, noxious weed seeds, coarse sand, large rocks, 
sticks, brush, litter and other deleterious material and meet the requirements of MAG Section 795. 
The Project Manager's approval of the proposed topsoil shall be obtained before delivery to the 
project.

425.4 MEASUREMENT:
(revise paragraph to read as follows)

Topsoil shall be measured lump sum, complete and in place unless indicated otherwise by the bid 
schedule.

425.5 PAYMENT:
(revise to read as follows)

Topsoil will be paid for in accordance with the contracted price for furnishing and placing topsoil, 
as described and specified.  Progress payment shall be made based on the Contractor’s estimate 
for percent complete as approved by the Owner.  

SECTION 430 – LANDSCAPING AND PLANTING
(revise to include section as follows)

430.3 LAWN AREAS

430.3.1 Preparation of In Place Soil
(delete the second paragraph and revise to read as follows)

After clearing, grubbing and initial cultivation has been completed, a slow release chemical fertilizer 
shall be mechanically spread over the turfgrass area at an average rate of 1 pound of actual nitrogen 
per 1000 square feet.  After spreading, the fertilizer shall be cultivated into the top four inches of 
soil using suitable equipment.  The resulting soil shall be in a friable condition suitable for planting.  
(Actual nitrogen is determined by using the nitrogen ratio number x weight of the bag/100).  



30

Amended October 2020

430.3.2  Seeding 
(delete the first and second paragraph revise to read as follows)

The rate of seeding shall be three pounds of seed per 1000 square feet using the following seed 
mixture;
Poa pratensis Kentucky Bluegrass (mix of three varieties) 70%
Lolium perenne Perennial Rye Grass 10%
Festuca rubra Creeping Red Fescue 20%

Alternative species may be acceptable but are subject to prior approval from the City Project 
Manager or duly authorized representative.   

SECTION 431 – EROSION CONTROL
(revise to include new section as follows)

431.1 DESCRIPTION

Erosion control applies to improvements within the city and as part of the erosion control section 
of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). Materials, means and methods for erosion 
control and stabilization, Best Management Practices (BMPs), Erosion Control Plans (ECPs) and 
SWPPPs are described in the City of Flagstaff Stormwater Design Manual.  

The Contractor shall stabilize all disturbed areas within the project site and as shown on the plans.  
Work shall be performed according to the provisions of this Section and shall include but not be 
limited to the furnishing, hauling, placement and application of erosion control materials.

The Contractor is responsible for complying with the requirements of the National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit program.  This generally includes submittal of a 
Notice of Intent to the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) and Notice of 
Termination to ADEQ for the project.  Preparation and implementation of a Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for the site is required per ADEQ and City of Flagstaff 
standards.  

The cost for complying with the NPDES permit and the SWPPP, including the erosion control 
devices, shall be included in the NPDES & SWPPP Requirements portion of the Contractor’s bid.  
It is recommended that contractors see the ADEQ Smart NOI (Notice of Intent) program website 
(http://az.gov/webapp/noi/main.do) for information and processes.  

Progress payment shall be made based on the Contractor’s estimate for percent complete as 
approved by the Owner.  



31

Amended October 2020

432.1 NATIVE SEEDING
All areas to be seeded that are accessible to machinery shall be tilled to a minimum depth of four 
(4) inches.  Areas inaccessible to machinery shall be hand tilled and prepared to a minimum depth 
of two (2) inches. Cut slopes of 2:1 or steeper do not require tilling. Cultivation on sloping terrain 
shall run perpendicular to the direction to the slope. If weeds or herbaceous plant material 
interferes with proper seedbed preparation, the contractor shall remove them from the seedbed.  

Contractor shall remove and dispose of all debris and other objectionable material that may 
interfere with seeding operations. 

The area to be seeded shall be relatively smooth and all surface irregularities (e.g. rills, tire marks) 
shall be filled and firmed to conform to the desired cross sections. The seedbed shall be rolled both 
before and after the seeding operation with a minimum of one pass of a cultipacker or drag harrow. 

Seed shall be sown when conditions will promote germination and growth. Normal non-irrigated 
permanent native seed application dates are between April 1 and June 15, between August 15 and 
September 20 and after the first frost (recurring overnight temperature of 28 degrees F) until 
snowfall. Seeding work shall be performed only after planting and other work affecting ground 
surface is complete.

To assist in establishment of the permanent seed mix, a nurse crop shall be used for this work.  
Preapproved nurse crop seed shall be one of the following, incorporated with the specified 
permanent seed mix;

  Annual ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum)                 30 lbs/acre   
Oats        (Avena sativa)                60 lbs/acre  
Regreen© (Triticum aestivum x Elytrigia elongata)  30 lbs/acre

Alternative species may be acceptable but are subject to prior approval from the City Project 
Manager or duly authorized representative.   

When cut or fill slopes are greater than six (6) feet in height and steeper than 3H:1V, the seeded 
area shall be covered with American Excelsior Company straw/coconut blanket or an approved 
equal.  Installation shall be per the manufacturer’s written directions.    

440.10. (D) SEQUENCING
(add the following section)

The irrigation system shall be installed, inspected, approved and operable prior to the installation of 
plant materials, landscape fabric and ground plane treatments (decomposed granite, landscape 
rock, mulch, etc.)



32

Amended October 2020

PART 600 - WATER AND SEWER

SECTION 601 - TRENCH EXCAVATION, BACKFILLING AND COMPACTION

601.2 EXCAVATION:

601.2.1 GENERAL:
(revise to include the following)

All excavation, including trench excavation, shall be performed in any substance and material 
encountered.  The cost is considered incidental to and is to be included in the price for the bid 
item to be constructed or installed.  No special payment shall be made for trench excavation 
other than rock excavation as specified under Trench Rock Excavation.

Trench Rock Excavation
Trench rock is defined as consolidated igneous, metamorphic and/or sedimentary material in the 
original bed and/or in well-defined ledges that cannot be removed by a mechanical method and 
therefore requires pneumatic hammering, drilling or blasting for removal.  Example of 
mechanical methods include hand tools, trenching machine, backhoe, >195 horsepower 
hydraulic excavator with ripping teeth or equivalent.

Boulders and pieces of rock having a volume of more than 27 cubic feet (1 cubic yard) shall be 
considered rock.  

For projects where trench rock excavation is anticipated, the estimated contingent quantity is 
shown in the proposal under the applicable bid item.  The contingency quantity is an estimate only 
and no guaranty is given that any portion will be utilized.  Trench rock excavation will be paid for 
separately at the unit price bid per cubic yard for Trench Rock Excavation.

Measurement of Trench Rock Excavation shall be per cubic yard in place.  This volume of rock will 
be measured by the City representative, using the maximum trench width allowed in accordance 
with MAG Table 601-1, the lineal footage of actual rock excavation required and the actual depth of 
rock as determined by inspection of the trench after rock excavation and before backfilling.

SECTION 611 – WATER, SEWER AND STORM DRAIN TESTING

611.2 DISINFECTING WATER MAINS:

611.2.13 Fire Flow Testing:
(revise to include the following new section)



33

Amended October 2020

All water lines that have new fire hydrants shall require a fire flow test per CoF Engineering 
Standard 13-09-006-0006.1.  

Fire flow testing shall be performed by a certified tester.  Results shall be sealed by an Arizona 
Professional Engineer.    

The City Water Services Section requires a 72-hour notice via e-mail to schedule hydrant 
operation and testing observation.  A digital copy of the test results shall be submitted to the City 
Project Manager.     

SECTION 631 WATER TAPS AND METER SERVICE CONNECTIONS
(revise to add the following)

631.3 INSTALLATION:

New water service lines shall be installed to replace the existing water service lines. Construction 
includes replacement of all water services to COF Engineering Standards, including the service 
saddle at the main, corporation stop, pipe and curb stop to the meter and adjust the customers’ 
service to the new outlet meter coupling elevation. The lines shall be extended to the new polymer 
meter box location and a new meter box shall be installed and shall connect to the existing meter. 
If the existing meter is not at the City’s standard depth; the contractor shall adjust the elevation of 
the meter. In cases where the meter box moves, the contractor shall salvage the existing meter and 
shift it to the proposed location. At each of these locations the contractor is required to connect the 
existing water services on the private side of the meter. The Contractor shall coordinate with each 
homeowner where private construction is required to verify the water line rerouting and to restore 
landscaping to its original condition.

The City will provide the contractor with Temporary Rights of Entry for the water service 
connection, replacement/adjustment of water meter boxes and associated work. If the contractor 
needs to go outside the Temporary Right of Entry limits they will have to provide the City with 
written permission from the property owner prior to conducting the work. 
 
A residential plumber’s license will be required for all work that is done on the private service side 
of the meter.

City of Flagstaff utility tapping fees are the responsibility of the contractor. The contractor shall 
perform all work and coordinate payment directly with the City Water Services Department.  All 
costs for utility tap work and fees shall be included in the line item for installation of the new service, 
including but not limited to all labor and materials for complete installation. Repair associated within 
any abandoned or new tap shall be included in the contract bid item.



34

Amended October 2020

SECTION 710 - ASPHALT CONCRETE

710.1 GENERAL:
(revise to include the following)

The asphaltic concrete designation shall be 3/4 inch, except as required by the project plans or 
Special Provisions.

End of Document



   2.  2.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Stacy Saltzburg, City Clerk
Date:Date: 05/08/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 05/14/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
City Manager ReportCity Manager Report

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Information Only

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
These reports will be included in the City Council packet for regularly scheduled Work Session meetings. The
reports are intended to be informational, covering miscellaneous events and topics involving the City
organization.

Information:Information:

Attachments:Attachments: City Manager Report
PROSE Newsletter
HR Newsletter



City Manager’s Report 

May 9, 2024  

 

Council and Colleagues, greetings. These reports will be included in the City Council packet for 
Council Work Sessions.  The reports are intended to be informational, covering miscellaneous 
events and topics involving the city organization.  Appended to this report you will find the April 
update from PROSE, and the most recent newsletter from Human Resources.   

 
HR Director Recruitment 
 
With assistance from our professional recruitment firm, we have been busy over the past two 
weeks conducting interviews with candidates for the Human Resources & Risk Management 
Division.  This far there have been three candidates interviewed, each involving a panel review 
by Leadership, the HR Team, and Executive Management.  There will be a fourth candidate to be 
interviewed the week of May 13th, and potentially others.   
 
Stay tuned for outcomes on this very important process.  Many thanks to Shannon Anderson for 
her orchestration of the multiple interview panels … no easy feat.  
 
Budget Retreat 
 
It was a very successful two-day retreat that was hosted at the Core Services Facility, and 
facilitated by Jeff Kennedy with Lancaster Leadership.  We covered much ground, recapping the 
overall budget process, Priority Based Budgeting and Community Priorities, revenue projections, 
employee retention, compensation and 
benefits, capital projects, five-year 
planning, new staffing, community 
services, and a myriad of other topics.  
Council was engaged and the staff was 
well prepared, and we are now on our 
way toward adoption in June.  
 
Thank you! 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Presentation to County Board of Supervisors 
 
We have apprised Council of our preparation and ultimate presentation to the County Board of 
Supervisors (sitting as the Board for the Coconino Flood Control District) related to the city’s Rio 
de Flag Flood Control Project.  This presentation occurred on April 23rd.  Props to the team who 
prepared, and specifically to Ed Schenk who conducted the presentation masterfully. The 
presentation was in tandem with updates from the USFS regarding forest health and the many 
pending forest management contracts that are happening in the upper reaches of the Rio de Flag 
watershed.  It was all very informative, and quite appreciated by the Board.  
 
 

 
 
 
Meetings & Events 
 

Washington, D.C. 
 
The agenda was packed (pasted below) and very meaningful in terms of visits, project 
updates, and overall relationship building.  Please note that on Thursday the agenda was 
altered to include a noon meeting with Senator Sinema and the Congressman Gosar 
meeting was cancelled in order to accommodate this. 
 
I am pasting below some great photos from the whirlwind trip … enjoy! 
 



 
 

 







 
 

 
 
 
2024 Election 

 
The City is partnering with the County to use the Aquaplex as a polling location for both the 
primary and general election.  We will be waiving the facility rental fee for the Aquaplex for the 
election. We are also finalizing an internal policy that will encourage and provide City employees 
an opportunity to contribute and work on Election Day and serve as Election Day Technicians 
(EDTs) by providing paid time off for these services. 
 
 
 



Housing – 2024 AMI Released 
 

Housing staff have prepared the new 2024 Area Median Income (AMI) limits for the City’s 
homeownership and rental programs, which are based on income limits provided by HUD 
annually. The income limits are used to determine income eligibility for both federal and local 
rental programs, as well as the Affordable Homeownership Program. The new AMI tables have 
been distributed to the City’s housing partners and are effective immediately.   

 
Beulah/University Realignment Project 
 
Great progress is being made at one of the key gateways to our community! 
With the cooperation and partnerships of the City, ADOT, NAU, Eagle 
Mountain Construction, numerous businesses, residents, community 
members, and visitors, the project team is working toward our transition to 
Phase 2 of the project – which marks the start of the pedestrian underpass.  
 
Currently crews and franchise utilities are working to reroute and connect 
the underground utilities crossing Milton Road. Underground utilities have 
been installed east and west of Milton Road and now is the monumental task 
of connecting the two sides of utilities under Milton Road. As one can imagine there are a myriad 
of utilities under Milton and due to the installation of the pedestrian underpass, nearly all of 
them need to be rerouted so they are not in conflict with the underpass.  
 

Due to the geographic extent of the project, there is a great deal of traffic 
control signage and rerouting. Pedestrian and bicycle access at Milton and 
University is closed for the safety of bicyclists, pedestrians, community 
members, and our construction team. This is an active construction zone and 
should not be entered by those not part of the construction team. Pedestrians 
and bicyclists need to utilize the two suggested bike/ped detours which are 

Plaza Way to the north and Forest Meadows to the south. These crosswalks are fully operational 
and outside of the active construction zone. The team understands this is an inconvenience; 
however, safety for our community, visitors, and construction team is our highest priority. Please 
note that the eastbound lane of University Drive will be open for traffic for NAU’s spring 
graduation weekend (May 10-12).  
 
The project has recently finished the concrete for the raised bike/pedestrian crosswalks in the 
roundabout, landscaping/irrigation work has started, and the new roundabout and new Beulah 
Blvd are scheduled to be paved toward the end of May. Beginning after the Fourth of July holiday, 
the excavation work for the pedestrian underpass will commence followed by the installation of 
the pre-cast pedestrian underpass which come in 8-foot sections. The underpass work and 
associated improvements to the University Drive and Milton Road intersection will continue 
through October 2024 with the whole project expected to be completed by Fall 2025.  
 
Enjoy the below photos, and we may have some drone footage to share as well! 

- Project Website – 
Sign Up for          Weekly 

Updates! 

Completed 



 

 
 
 
 

 

 



 

 
 
 

 

 



 
Linda Vista Culvert 
 
Last week you had an excellent update on the 
suite of projects related to Spruce Wash and 
Hwy 180.  Great stuff.   In visiting the Linda Vista 
site recently, the below photo was taken simply 
to show the utility relocates (see water line, 
visible in the trench) that are preceding the 
culvert project.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
With that, Council, this report is concluded.  Again, two updates are attached for your review.  
Thank you.  



April 2024

Above: Staff attending mission/vision/values training

PROSE
P A R K S ,  R E C R E A T I O N ,  O P E N

S P A C E ,  A N D  E V E N T S  

It’s official!  PROSE has a new mission statement and vision, along with values to keep
the Division rolling in a strategic motion.  Through facilitation with Lancaster
Leadership from the one and only Julie Lancaster, the Division’s full-time staff
created, cultivated and collaborated to create the guiding statements in April.  

Mission statement:  
Connecting our community through people, parks, natural areas, and programs.

Vision statement:
 Creating unique experiences and places to play.

Values:  
Community enrichment

Conservation
All Inclusive
Authenticity



Right: Staff performing turf
maintenance

Above: Trail Count graph

Spring is here, and the Parks turf
maintenance operation is in full
swing!

This team is responsible for turf
maintenance operations throughout
all parks. Staff responsibilities include
dethatching, aeration, fertilization,
overseeding, and topdressing of turf,
as well as weekly mowing of all
athletic fields. These efforts enable us
to provide exceptional grassy play
areas to all park and athletic group
users.



Above: upcoming recreation facility
closures for annual maintenance

Did you know? Parks staff has a number of certifications required to
effectively and efficiently maintain park grounds. 



Above: Mark Yarnall

The Daddy Daughter Ball was a
success! Sixty-five participants took to
the dance floor to boogie. Dads and
daughters enjoyed dinner, crafts,
photos, and dancing, in celebration
the return of this event post-
pandemic. 

Welcome back Mark Yarnall! Mark started employment with the city in January 2022 for
PROSE at the Aquaplex, then spent some time at City Hall with Customer Service, as well
as Planning & Development. Mark has rejoined the PROSE team as the Recreation
Coordinator at Joe C. Montoya Community & Senior Center.

Mark earned a bachelor’s degree in Recreation Management from Eastern Washington
University and between working with City of Scottsdale, Coconino County, City of Flagstaff,
and the private sector, he brings 8+ years of recreation and hospitality experience.

In his free time Mark enjoys cycling and staying healthy in order to keep up with his 3.5-
year-old toddler and 8-month-old baby.

We are excited to have Mark back in the PROSE family and believe he will have an
immediate impact at the Joe C. Montoya Community and Senior Center.

Left: Daddy Daughter ball
attendees

https://webtrac.flagstaffaz.gov/wbwsc/webtrac.wsc/search.html?module=AR&Type=Adult&_csrf_token=pp6S1M6V1O1A2A3A3E3J3Q4E706G6H5J125W4X6P52095I505B6P015O5V724U6E6K4V6T521H5S4I6T540


Above: volunteer appreciation group
photo

Above: students
digging in soil

In preparation for a field trip to Picture Canyon,
Open Space staff did an in-class lesson at
Cromer Elementary School about the Rio de Flag
at Picture Canyon. They brought bins of soil/sand
and had the students dig a straightaway, like the
one coming from the Wildcat Wastewater
Treatment Plant, to see how the water flowed,
what erosion occurred, and what “plants” were
washed away. Then, they dug a meandering
stream like the one dug by Natural Channel
Design at Picture Canyon, to see how the water
flowed differently.  

Open Space held a volunteer appreciation
event on April 10, 2024. The dedication and
commitment of these volunteers is truly
remarkable and deserving of recognition.
Their tireless efforts have created a
meaningful on-site presence across Open
Space properties and play a crucial role in
promoting ethical use through education. So
far in FY 2023-2024 volunteers have donated
1,400 hours, demonstrating their unwavering
passion for conservation and community
stewardship. Their dedication is the
cornerstone of our success, and we extend
our heartfelt appreciation for their ongoing
support.

Right: students on
a field trip at

Picture Canyon 



Events and Marketing completed 17 marketing requests and continues to drive efforts in
promoting PROSE offerings through various marketing channels and media platforms.

Upcoming
programming

for May

https://webtrac.flagstaffaz.gov/wbwsc/webtrac.wsc/search.html?module=AR&type=SWIM&&_csrf_token=pp6S1M6V1O1A2A3A3E3J3Q4E706G6H5J125W4X6P52095I505B6P015O5V724U6E6K4V6T521H5S4I6T540B5E4H6L5F7067465B6N1E73606F6L1I604I6G6B1T6V3V4R
https://www.facebook.com/flagstaffPROSE
https://www.instagram.com/flagstaffprose/


Human Resources/Risk Management
Monthly Newsletter, Vol. 2

May 2024
  

Update from HR/RM Leadership

We hope you enjoy our May newsletter! 

The Human Resources team is
growing. We hired a new Recruiter, Val
Garcia, who is highlighted in this edition
of our newsletter. We have also
engaged two temporary employees to
help us during our time of
transition. Please help us welcome
Georganna Staskey who will be
assisting with our newsletter, policy
review/handbook updates and special
projects. Also, welcome to Linda
Alvarado who will be assisting in many
areas including benefits and training.

The 2023 Employee Survey Results are
in! If you have not already please check
out this dashboard. The dashboard
provides an interactive way to view the
collective results of the survey. Take a
look at more information on how the
survey was obtained and the next steps
from the results here. 

If there is something you would like us to
address in a future newsletter, please
email us at
human.resources@flagstaffaz.gov.

Contents

Update from Leadership
New Members to Team Flagstaff
Promotions
Employee Spotlight
Benefits
Classification and Compensation
Recruitment
Tips/Updates:

Training & Development
Compliance
Employee Relations

Risk Management

Welcome to Team Flagstaff! 
Anthony Milligan (Rehire) - Streets Ops Tech II Temp - Public Works
Aslyn Wright - Library Specialist (Temp) - Economic Vitali

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fapp.powerbigov.us%2Fview%3Fr%3DeyJrIjoiMmExYTcwZTEtYjY4Ni00MmVlLWFjODctNTBhODI2NDZkN2QzIiwidCI6IjVkYTcyN2I5LWZiODgtNDhiNC1hYTA3LTJhNDAwODhhMDQ2ZCJ9&data=05%7C02%7Cgeorganna.staskey%40flagstaffaz.gov%7C2b39acae94aa4265463c08dc6315b939%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638494192170515543%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=PC0hAFuIBH8SnGhjYIN%2Fzp4Uyglxf4TDcyD8QkDjLE8%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffiles.constantcontact.com%2F7eb720ca901%2F34925473-ec39-4e0f-9be3-a648e1338bbd.pdf&data=05%7C02%7Cgeorganna.staskey%40flagstaffaz.gov%7C2b39acae94aa4265463c08dc6315b939%7C5da727b9fb8848b4aa072a40088a046d%7C0%7C0%7C638494192170524636%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=JklnGhKy%2BW8TdS6733qsXMeGAoBSmcOtPRggC%2FFbIws%3D&reserved=0
mailto:human.resources@flagstaffaz.gov
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/979/Government
https://learn.neogov.com/
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/78158/Post-Accident-DrugAlcohol-Testing-Decision-Tree


Brianna Morgan - Lifeguard - PROS
Bridget Konter - Recreation Instructor II - PROSE 
Daniel Barton - Streets Ops Tech II Temp - Public Works 
Kaylen Batey - Police Officer - Police Department 
Kenna Magness - Customer Service Rep I - Management Services 
Lee Charley - Engineering Specialist - Capital Improvement & Engineering 
Lydia Gates - Administrative Specialist - Management Services 
Minesh Patel - Equipment Operator I - Public Works 
Natalie Pierson - Sustainability Coordinator - Sustainability 
Richard Parry - Housing Navigator - Community Development 
Samantha Joe - Administrative Specialist - Community Development 
Sarah Jablon - Community Engagement Specialist - Water Services 
Sterling Harrison - Recreation Instructor II - PROSE 
Susan Jonas - Water Services Management Analyst 
Tanya Smith (Rehire) - Police Comm. Specialist Supervisor – Police Dept.
Travis Raynor - Police Records Technician - Police Department 
Valeria Garcia - Human Resources Recruiter - Human Resources 

 

CONGRATULATIONS to the following employees who were
recently PROMOTED!

Ariana Dillon - Head Lifeguard - PROSE 
David Pedersen - Project Manager Senior Lead - Capital Improvments & Eng.
Elizabeth Crosby - Police Emergency Comm. Specialist Supervisor - Police Dept.
Karen Aguirre - Police Emergency Comm. Specialist Supervisor - Police Dept.
Mark Yarnall - Recreation Coordinator I - Community Development 
Paul Rodriguez - Street Light Technician - Public Works 

Employee Spotlight
Valeria Garcia, HR Recruiter

What made you want to join Team Flagstaff?
I was ready for my next adventure! I had been
in the HR department at my last role for
almost 6 years and was feeling ready to level
up, and lo and behold, I came upon the HR
Recruiter role at the City. Everyone I talked
with during the interviewing process seemed
so lovely and supportive, so I decided to
make the jump when they offered me the job. 

Who is your hero?
My Husband, Kyle. He's pretty heroic on a
daily basis.  � 

If you could live anywhere, where would it be?
This changes every month, but this week I’m
wishing I could live in a hillside village by the
beach in Mallorca, Spain.  



If you could switch jobs with anyone else for a
day, who would it be and why?
I would switch jobs with a bicycle tour guide
for a youth travel company in Europe! I love
the outdoors and being physically active, I
love traveling, and I love working with kids
and teens, so this would cover all those
bases. And I love eating food, so I wouldn’t
feel guilty about eating a lot while doing the
job. 

If you could have any superpower, what would it be and why?
Time travel. I’m a big history nerd, so I wish I could go back in time to check
out different historical events and see what really happened.  
  
What's your go-to snack or drink?
Boring go-to choice: a Plenny shake.  
My fun go-to choice: a chai latte and a jambon beurre sandwich from Petit
Marche in downtown! 
  
If you could bring any fictional character to life, who would it be and why?
I think I would bring Chilli, Bluey's mom (IYKYK), to life because she seems
like she would be fun to have drinks with and chat about life and raising
daughters.

What's the most unusual talent or skill you have that your coworkers might not know
about?
I don't think I have any unusual talents, but I do know how to play the cello! I
was in orchestra from elementary through the end of high school. It's been a
few years since I played it but I'm pretty sure I can still read music and perform
that instrument.

If you could choose a theme song to play every time you walked into the office, what
would it be?
Every 1's a Winner by Hot Chocolate.

What do you do for fun?
My daily fun activity is to watch new tv shows with my husband since there
are so many great ones (we're currently watching Fallout, which I highly
recommend!). Otherwise, the things I do for fun when I have time is to eat at
new restaurants, play soccer in the Flagstaff Women's League over the
summer (which if anyone is interested, contact me! We accept players of all
levels), hike in the forest behind my neighborhood with my dog, and take my
3-year-old daughter to fun new places.



Benefits

Benefit Term of the Month: Coinsurance
The percentage of costs of a covered health care service you pay (20%, for
example) after you've paid your deductible. 

Let's say your health insurance plan's allowed amount for an office visit is $100 and
your coinsurance is 20%.

If you've paid your deductible: You pay 20% of $100, or $20. The insurance
company pays the rest.
If you haven't met your deductible: You pay the full allowed amount, $100.

Wellness Program
If you haven't already, please be sure to sign up for the My Vera. Create your
account by May 15th 11:59pm to take advantage of Health Plan and Personal
Wellness incentives being offered!

Open Enrollment
Open Enrollment is coming! Employees will be able to make changes to their
benefits May 6th to May 17th. All employees will be sent more information soon
through their work e-mail. 

Classification and Compensation
Common Classification and Compensation Terms and Phrases

https://my.verawholehealth.com/


Recruitment

Monthly Recruitment Tip:  
When interviewing new hires be sure the candidate will fit not only the division's
culture but the overall culture of the organization, and will share in the same vision
and values to protect and enhance the quality of life for all. 

Monthly Job Highlight:  
System Operators in Water Services

Want to know more about the division? Here is some insight from our Water
Services Director, Shannon Jones:

"Water System Operator is a core position within the utility. From operating water
treatment plants, to maintaining over a 1,000 miles of underground infrastructure,
Water System Operators make sure the essential services we provide are available
to the community when needed.

Water Services is one of the oldest legitimate businesses in Flagstaff.

Each person in our community uses on average 79 gallons every day.

According to the United States Geological Survey, if you took all the water in all the
rivers of the world and poured it into the Grand Canyon, it would fill it halfway full.

Like Water, be a solution."

New Job Postings:  
Parks Maintenance Worker 
Executive Assistant I - Community Investment 

Know someone who may be a good fit? Encourage them to apply and you may be
eligible to earn an incentive through the City's employee referral program!  

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/flagstaff/jobs/4363579/water-services-operator-wastewater-collections-storm-water
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/flagstaff/jobs/4473947/parks-maintenance-worker
https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/flagstaff/jobs/4475803/executive-assistant-i-community-investment
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/76677/Employee-Referral-Program---Process-Document


 
Training and Development :
GovExec is offering a High Performance
Leadership Academy for emerging leaders of
all levels. The curriculum provides best
practices in leadership, organizational
development, change management,
negotiation and collaboration, effective
communication, and how to deliver increased
value from high performance management.
Check out details of their courses and please
reach out to Kelly Shearer at
KShearer@pdaleadership.com (971) 353-
4428 to sign up!

Compliance Tip:  
PAFs are due the Friday (payday) of the new pay
period for that pay period. So, if New Hire week is
4/29 the PAFs would be due 5/3. This helps
Payroll process everything in a timely matter. If
you have a late termination please let Jennifer
Moore know as soon as possible. You can also
see the Payroll/HR calendar for Fiscal Year
2023/2024 that is on the HR Page for further
information.

Employee Relations Tip: 
Please check your NEOGOV dashboard for
overdue tasks related to performance evaluations
and complete the tasks. All FY24 evaluations
need to be completed prior to June 7th to
process merit increases and prepare the system
for the FY25 performance evaluations. If you see
duplicate evaluations, please contact Alan at
Alan.Keay@flagstaffaz.gov.  

Risk Management
May Trainings

2nd – Heat Stress/Heat Illness (1-2:30PM) 
15th – Monthly Safety Committee Meeting (1-2:30PM) 
21st – ADOSH Webinar: Material Handling (8:30AM) 

June Trainings
4th – ADOSH Webinar: Heat Stress (8:30AM) 
5th – ADOSH Webinar: Trenching and Soil Mechanics (8:30AM) 

https://learn.neogov.com/
https://files.constantcontact.com/7eb720ca901/84c1fc65-49a2-4a52-971f-ef0cffbd2006.docx
https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/DocumentCenter/View/78158/Post-Accident-DrugAlcohol-Testing-Decision-Tree
mailto:Alan.Keay@flagstaffaz.gov


11th – ADOSH and NFPA: Hot Work Permits (8:30AM) 
12th – ADOSH Webinar: LOTO (8:30AM) 
12th – ADOSH Webinar: Heat Stress/Illness Prevention (1:00PM) 
14th – OSHA 10-HR Construction Class DAY 1 (7AM-3PM) 
17th – OSHA 10-HR Construction Class DAY 2 (7AM-3PM) 
19th – ADOSH Webinar: Evacuation and Emergency Planning (8:30AM) 
19th – Monthly Safety Committee Meeting (1-2:30PM) 
20th – ADOSH Webinar: Respirator Standards (8:30AM) 
26th – SAFETY DAY!! (11AM-1PM) 

Memorial Day Safety Tips

Memorial Day honors and remembers all men and women who have served in the
United States Armed Forces and made the ultimate sacrifice. It’s also the unofficial
start of summer fun and summer danger.  
39 million Americans will hit the road and travel by cars, trains and airplanes. They
will be adventuring, enjoying get-togethers with family and friends, going to
barbecues, and exploring nature. And any of this could put many people in danger. 
Driving Safety 

1. Practice defensive driving-Buckle up, designate a sober driver or arrange
alternative transportation, get plenty of sleep to avoid fatigue, and drive
attentively, avoiding distractions. 

2. Know your vehicle’s safety features. 
3. Inform someone of your travel plans, route and expected time of arrival. Top

that tank off too. 
Grilling Safety 

1. Always supervise a barbecue grill when in use. 
2. Never grill indoors. 
3. Keep the grill away from flammables-trees, house, deck etc. 
4. Use long-handled tools designed for grilling and follow manufacturer’s

instructions. 
Water Safety 

1. Learn to swim and encourage family and friends to do the same. 
2. Actively supervise children near water. 
3. Always wear an approved life jacket when boating. 
4. Swim with a buddy  
5. Don’t forget to hydrate and wear sunscreen. 

If we all pay attention, slow down and be courteous, we can increase our chances of
making it to picnics, barbecues and beaches, rather than emergency rooms. 



Heating
Up!

Flagstaff may be famous for our cool summers and lack of 115 degree heat, but our
high altitude and dry climate can quickly turn an 80 degree day into a heat threat.
Also, when traveling in the state it only takes a small drop in elevation for the
temperature to quickly climb 10-20 degrees. It’s important as the weather warms
that we take precautions, acclimate to working in the warmer weather, and plan for
those days and times when the temperature climbs past what was expected.  

Always keep water with you. Have some in your vehicle(s) and at your work
site(s).  
For every 20 minutes of working in 80 degrees or hotter, drink 8 ounces of
water. If you’re thirsty, you are already dehydrated!  
It’s especially important to acclimatize new workers to physical and/or jobs
working in warm climates or outside. 50% of heat related deaths occur on the
first day of work and 70% in the first week. Check out OSHA’s guidelines
below.  
New Workers:               

Day 1 - 20% usual work duration   
Day 2 - 40% usual work duration   
Day 3 - 60% usual work duration   
Day 4 - 80% usual work duration 
Day 5 - 100% usual work duration

Workers with Prior Experience (away for one week or more):  
Day 1 - 50% usual work duration   
Day 2 - 60% usual work duration 
Day 3 - 80% usual work duration 
Day 4 - 100% usual work duration

Wear sunscreen, clothing that blocks UV, and utilize shade. 
Rest promptly if feeling light headed, thirsty, or hot. 
Learn the signs of heat distress and heat stroke with this short OSHA video.  
When traveling, if possible, leave pets at home. We all love to take our dogs
with us, but keep in mind they only sweat through their paws, regulating body
temperature is difficult.  
Cars heat up quick! And they act like an oven. At 80 degrees in 10 minutes
time, that car is going to be 99 degrees. Don’t leave children, pets, or folks
sensitive to heat in cars.  
The law in Arizona allows for anyone to access a vehicle to rescue a child or
animal who may be in heat distress. However, you must call 911 and inform
the operator that you are doing so and request assistance at the address.  

Stay cool, stay safe, stay hydrated!

https://youtu.be/Kr2ouLj1oW0?si=aar6PVuBEUc-nrt9
https://youtu.be/Kr2ouLj1oW0?si=aar6PVuBEUc-nrt9


BY THE NUMBERS:
FY23-24 

Words of Wisdom



Not sure who to contact in Human Resources and Risk Management? Check
out our page on the City's website Human Resources & Risk Management |Human Resources & Risk Management |
City of Flagstaff Official Website (az.gov)City of Flagstaff Official Website (az.gov)

 
 

211 W Aspen Avenue Flagstaff, AZ 86001 | Phone: 928-213-2090
Human.Resources@flagstaffaz.gov

 

Constant Contact | 3675 Precision Dr, Loveland, CO 80538

Unsubscribe meriah.franklin@flagstaffaz.gov

Update Profile |Constant Contact Data Notice

Sent byhumanresources@cityofflagstaff.ccsend.compowered by

Try email marketing for free today!

https://www.flagstaff.az.gov/652/Human-Resources-Risk-Management
http://www.constantcontact.com/legal/about-constant-contact
mailto:humanresources@cityofflagstaff.ccsend.com
http://www.constantcontact.com/landing1/vr/home?cc=nge&utm_campaign=nge&rmc=VF21_CPE&utm_medium=VF21_CPE&utm_source=viral&nav=57f735d4-33c1-42f4-a5d4-0acc6dfa7a43
http://www.constantcontact.com/landing1/vr/home?cc=nge&utm_campaign=nge&rmc=VF21_CPE&utm_medium=VF21_CPE&utm_source=viral&nav=57f735d4-33c1-42f4-a5d4-0acc6dfa7a43


   3.  3.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Rick Tadder, Management Services Director
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Heather Dalmolin, CEO and General Manager, Mountain Line
Date:Date: 05/03/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 05/14/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
Mountain Line Today and Beyond Updates and Transit Tax DiscussionMountain Line Today and Beyond Updates and Transit Tax Discussion

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
Discussion only for the Mountain Line updates.   
Council support and direction regarding the November 2024 General Election for a Transit Tax increase
and extension. 

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
Mountain Line will provide an update about today and beyond for transit.  This will include current
benchmarks, Downtown Connection Center progress, financial update, Flagstaff in Motion and more. 

Mountain Line will share their work over the last 8 months for the consideration of a transit tax increase. 
Mountain Line has worked with a Citizens' Advisory Committee and has done several surveys related to a
transit tax increase.  Mountain Line will present information to help Council consider putting a ballot measure
on the November 2024 General Election.  

Information:Information:
Presentations will be provided for all the topics that Mountain Line will share and discuss with Council. 

Attachments:Attachments: Presentation
Transit Vision
Ride Guide Map



Mountain Line Today and Beyond



Financial and Service Performance Benchmarks

2019 2023 FY2024 FY2024 FY2025 FY2027 FY2031

Actual Actual Goal Q1-2 Actual Goal Goal Goal

Fixed Route - Bus

Total Trips 2,541,353 1,569,968 2,101,812 835,814 2,541,353 2,592,434 2,697,697 

Cost per Passenger $             2.91 $             6.36 $             4.95 $             6.69 $              4.27 $             4.35 $             4.28 

Cost per Hour $           98.14 $        137.10 $        137.35 $        157.07 $          143.09 $        148.75 $        152.24 

Passengers per Hour 33.77 21.57 27.72 23.48 $            33.52 34.19 35.58 

Demand Response
 - Paratransit
Trips Per Hour 3.02 1.97 2.18 1.76 2.31 2.60 3.27 

Cost per Trip $           46.05 $           53.97 $           48.27 $           90.50 $             46.43 $           42.96 $           36.77 

Cost per Hour $        139.10 $        106.26 $        105.39 $        158.98 $          107.39 $        111.50 $        120.20 



Peer Agency – Bus

 $-  $20  $40  $60  $80  $100  $120  $140  $160

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff

Pe
er

 A
ge

nc
y

Cost per Hour
Bus FY22 

 -  5  10  15  20  25

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff

Pe
er

 A
ge

nc
y

Passengers per Hour
Bus FY22 

 -  3,000,000  6,000,000  9,000,000  12,000,000

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff

Pe
er

 A
ge

nc
y

Boardings
Bus FY22 

0 10 20

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff
Pe

er
 A

ge
nc

y

Boardings per Capita 
Bus FY22 



Peer Agency – Paratransit

0 1 2 3

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff

Pe
er

 A
ge

nc
y

Passengers per Hour
Paratransit FY22 

 -  100,000  200,000  300,000  400,000

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff

Pe
er

 A
ge

nc
y

Boardings
Paratransit FY22 

0.00 0.25 0.50 0.75

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff
Pe

er
 A

ge
nc

y

Boardings per Capita 
Paratransit FY22 

 $-  $50  $100  $150

Missoula

Normal

Meridian

Logan

Tucson

Lubbock

Flagstaff

Pe
er

 A
ge

nc
y

Cost per Hour
Paratransit FY22 



Downtown Connection Center 
Progress

Panoramic View



Progress Photos

Cross Laminated 
Timber 

Exterior Materials 
Mockup



DCC Ultimate Buildout
• Operations Hub:

– Construction ~2028 after Rio de Flag Project (RDF)
– Developing electrical design to secure APS electrical

grid capacity for bus charging

• Civic Space:
Construction
beyond 2028 after
RDF & floodplain
mapping



Mountain Line Financial Update

• FY2025 Budget
• Fund Balance Update
• Flagstaff in Motion
• Transit Tax needs 
• Request consideration of Transit Tax question 

on November 2024 ballot



FY2024 to FY2025 Comparison



Transit Tax Fund Balance

 $(5,000,000)

 $(2,000,000)

 $1,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $7,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $13,000,000

FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 FY 2030 FY 2031 FY 2032

City of Flagstaff Fund Balance 

Fund Balance 25% Fund Balance Expense vs Revenue collected



Flagstaff in Motion



Transit Vision

DRAFT



Flagstaff in Motion - Funding
• .0008 (8 cents on $100 purchase) needed to close revenue to

expense gap

• .00215 (21.5 cents on $100 purchase) provides opportunity
for implementation of all service changes identified and
prioritized in Flagstaff in Motion (the 5-year Transit Plan)

• This is a doubling of the existing tax of .00295 (29.5 cents on
$100 purchase)

* These totals include capital funding needed for implementation.



Citizen Review Commision

• 9 community members – schools, human
service agencies, riders, developers, City, and
general community members

• 3 meetings to learn about transit and the five
year plan, to review financial data, and to
evaluate public input from surveys



Survey Outcomes
Phone Survey
• 400 surveys

• 83 percent of respondents support extending the existing tax for 10 years

• 69 percent support increasing it by 10 cents

• 51 percent support increasing it by 20 cents

• 60 percent of respondents support a tax increase to address climate change

Virtual Open House

• 2000 visitors

• 170 completed surveys

• 75% or more supportive of 20-25 cents



Refined Funding

• .0008 (8 cents on $100 purchase) needed to close 
revenue to expense gap

• .00125 (12.5 cents on $100 purchase) provides 
opportunity for increased frequency, longer hours 
of service, service to unserved areas

* These totals include capital funding needed for implementation.



Recommendation

The purpose of this memo is to formally request that the City of 
Flagstaff send a single question to voters on November 5, 2024, 
to both extend and expand the existing transit sales tax as 
follows:  
• Extend the tax to June 30, 2040.  The current tax sunsets in 

2030.
• Expand the tax rate from .00295 to .0050, an increase of 

.00205, or 20.5 cents per $100 purchase.  The expanded 
funding will support increased transit services as described 
and prioritized in the 5-year Transit Plan, Flagstaff in Motion.



Alternatives
2. Do not place a proposition on November 2024 ballot for the extension and 

expansion of the transit tax (not recommended).
3. Place two propositions on the November 2024 ballot, one to extend the 

transit tax to 2040 and a separate question to expand the funding 
from .00295 to .0050 (not recommended).

4. Place one or more propositions on the November 2024 ballot that renews 
the tax to 2040 and increases the transit tax to .0040 (not recommended).

5. Place one or more propositions on the November 2024 ballot that renews 
the tax to 2040 and increases the transit tax to .0060 (not recommended).

6. Place a proposition on the November 2024 ballot that renews the transit 
tax to 2040 at the existing rate (not recommended).



Recommendation

The purpose of this memo is to formally request that the City of 
Flagstaff send a single question to voters on November 5, 2024, 
to both extend and expand the existing transit sales tax as 
follows:  
• Extend the tax to June 30, 2040.  The current tax sunsets in 

2030.
• Expand the tax rate from .00295 to .0050, an increase of 

.00205, or 20.5 cents per $100 purchase.  The expanded 
funding will support increased transit services as described 
and prioritized in the 5-year Transit Plan, Flagstaff in Motion.



Thank you for your time.

Bizzy Collins, Strategic Planner
Anne Dunno, Capital Development Manager
Heather Dalmolin, CEO and General Manager







   4.  4.                       

CITY OF FLAGSTAFFCITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORTSTAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To:To: The Honorable Mayor and Council
From:From: Tia Hatton, Sustainability Coordinator II
Co-Submitter:Co-Submitter: Nicole Antonopoulos
Date:Date: 05/07/2024
Meeting Date:Meeting Date: 05/14/2024

TITLE:TITLE:
FY22-23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Projects ReportFY22-23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Projects Report

DESIRED OUTCOME:DESIRED OUTCOME:
This is an informational update only.

Executive Summary:Executive Summary:
The Neighborhood Sustainability Grant program is an annual funding opportunity run by the Sustainability
Division with integral assistance from the Sustainability Commission. Neighborhood Sustainability Grants can
help launch or continue existing community sustainability projects. All projects incorporate community goals,
including facilitating volunteer engagement or management, building community partnerships, and/or
meaningfully involving underserved communities, diverse groups, or vulnerable populations. This presentation
highlights the final grant project outcomes from FY23 recipients.

Information:Information:
The Neighborhood Sustainability Grant is an annual grant program run by the Sustainability Division with
support from the Sustainability Commission. The Commission is responsible for reviewing, scoring, and voting
on the annual Neighborhood Sustainability Grant applications.
 
In fiscal year 2022-2023, the City allocated almost $50,000 across ten projects. The FY23 awardees included
the Arboretum at Flagstaff, Arizona 4H and ASU Extension, Flagstaff Disc Golf Club, Flagstaff Foodlink,
Flagstaff Youth Riders, Harbert Chapel, Killip Elementary, Marco Alatorre, Sunnyside Neighborhood
Association, and Townsite Urban Farm.
 
The Neighborhood Sustainability Grant program, which is over a decade old, has funded 63 projects across
Flagstaff. The Program is funded through the Environmental Management Fee and is part of the Sustainability
Division's on-going base budget. 

Attachments:Attachments: FY23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Presentation



NEIGHBORHOOD SUSTAINABILITY
GRANT FY23 FINAL REPORT

AN OVERVIEW OF THE TEN GRANT PROJECTS FUNDED IN FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 
AND THEIR PROJECT’S ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Tia Hatton Tenny, 
Sustainability Coordinator 2



NEIGHBORHOOD
SUSTAINABILITY
GRANT PROGRAM:
An annual grant program to fund creative projects
that enhance community sustainability and promote
healthy lifestyles through community partnerships.

In the FY23 grant year, nearly $50,000 was allocated
to 10 projects across the following 5 sustainability
categories: Public Health, Resilience, Food,
Transportation, and Building Energy.



BUILDING 
COMMUNITY 
THROUGH 
FOOD SERIES

To offer a series of accessible events focused on food

sovereignty and community resilience. In collaboration with

community partners, the “Building Community Through Food

Series” will elevate backyard growers, indigenous foodways,

and sustainable growing practices.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

Flagstaff Foodlink (501 (c)(3))

AWARD AMOUNT: $4,755
CATEGORY:  FOOD 



8 650+ 500 LBS+
On topics such as Marketing for growers,
Starting Seeds, Seed Saving, Fruit gleaning
and processing, and more. 

Who attended these workshops and
events, with the biggest turnout
being the 3rd Annual Native
American Farmers Market.

Thanks to fruit gleaning days & the
fruit picker lending systems.

COMMUNITY EVENTS &
WORKSHOPS

COMMUNITY MEMBERS APPLES KEPT OUT OF THE
LANDFILL

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS



KILLIP ELEMENTARY
COMMUNITY FOOD
PRODUCTION
Killip Elementary School

To provide needed space, equipment, and resources for
students and community members to grow plants and food
year-round. 
To provide Killip students with extended classroom space and
hands-on activities to learn more about plants, light, heat,
food production, sustainability, engineering, and more.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY: FOOD 



ALL PURCHASED  INSTALLED
DRIP IRRIGATION STUDENTS AT KILLIP ELEMENTARY A TUFF SHED, BUS TUBS, AND

AN OUTDOOR SINK

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS

participated in outside gardening during
the school year! to keep tools secure and accessible,

and to harvest, clean, and prep
produce.

with in-kind installation assistance
from Warner’s Nursery!



PUENTE DE
HÓZHÓ BIKE
PARK
Flagstaff Youth Riders AKA FLYRS, 
501(c)(3)

To expand upon the recently completed trail and bike park at
Puente de Hózhó Elementary serving the Sunnyside and
Greenlaw neighborhoods.
To add picnic space and features to the bike park.
To involve the community.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY: RESILIENCE



4 
NEW
SIGNS 

VOLUNTEERS DAYS

INSTALLED

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS

21
VOLUNTEERS ENGAGED

PICNIC
AREA

BUILT A NEW

BEFORE AFTER

EXPANDED
BIKE PARK FEATURES



BUILDING COMMUNITY
RESILIENCE THRU
ACCESS, EDUCATION,
AND CONNECTION
Townsite Urban Farm - 501(c)(3)

To increase Townsite Urban Farm’s (TUF’s) capacity to host additional
community gardeners, diversify and systemize foods produced, host
educational and community connecting events, and expand food
production for distribution to populations experiencing food insecurity
within Flagstaff and Northern Arizona.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY:  RESILIENCE



30 2,500 GALLON
VOLUNTEER DAYS WATER TANK INSTALLED TO

SUPPORT ADDITIONAL GARDERNS

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS
4 GARDEN BEDS
INSTALLED AT THE FRONT OF THE
PROPERTY TO INCREASE PUBLIC
AWARENESS OF URBAN FOOD
PRODUCTION

6
EDUCATIONAL COMMUNITY EVENTS



PELLETIZING LIABILITY BIOMASS 
from neighborhoods to make them more fire
wise, producing a locally-sourced non-fossil
energy product and sequestering carbon via
biochar production
Marco Alatorre - Flagstaff Community Member

To make homes and neighborhoods more resilience and fire-wise by
collecting and removing liability biomass from their yards.
Turn this biomass into a locally produced non-fossil energy source
pellet and explore uses for biochar in community gardens, building
energy, and donating to other productive community uses.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY:  RESILIENCE



1,500 LBS 30 STUDENTS
APPROX. AMOUNT
OF PINE NEEDLES
DIVERTED FROM
THE LANDFILL

STUDENTS AND CHAPERONES FROM
MONTESSORI SCHOOL OF
FLAGSTAFF TO COLLECT AND
REMOVE DEAD/FALLEN PINE NEEDLES
NEAR MCMILLAN MESA

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS
500 LBS
OF PINE NEEDLE PELLETS USED TO
PRODUCE RESIDENTIAL HEAT THROUGH
A WOOD STOVE “RETORT”

150 LBS
OF BIOCHAR CREATED



INCREASING
COMMUNITY RESILIENCY
THROUGH NATIVE AND
EDIBLE PLANT
PROPAGATION
The Arboretum at Flagstaff - 501 (c)(3)

To increase the Arboretum’s propagations of native and edible plants to
increase community resilience, ecological diversity and pollinator habitat.
To increase production in their established vegetable garden to continue their
efforts in educating the public on high elevation gardening, as well as contribute
to food recovery efforts through produce donations and seed sharing.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY:  RESILIENCE



20% PLANTS 
PROVIDEDAPPROX. INCREASE IN

PLANT PROPOGATION
TO PUENTE DE HOZHO AND THE
POLLINATOR GARDEN INCLUDING
AT THE MURDOCH CENTER

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS
SOIL COSTS
OFF-SET THE IMPACT OF EXTREME
COSTS IN SOIL

10% 
INCREASE IN NATIVE PLANT SALES 



KILLIP ELEMENTARY
YOUTH AND COMMUNITY
HORTICULTURAL THERAPY
PROGRAM
Arizona 4H Foundation and ASU Extension Services

To improve the overall well-being of youth, improve social and emotional skills
among youth, and instill a sense of responsibility in youth.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY:  RESILIENCE



97% QUOTES:

And all session objectives were
met or partially met

“I get so excited about gardening
club; I could just scream!”

OF SESSIONS IMPROVED 
MOOD FOR STUDENTS

STUDENTS LEARNED TO:

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS
TAKE RESPONSIBILITY FOR LIVING THINGS
MAKE HEALTHY FOOD CHOICES
MANAGE STRESS AND BE RESILIENT
WORK COOPERATIVELY
MAKE SCIENTIFIC OBSERVATIONS
SHARE WITH EACH OTHER
GIVE TO OTHERS

“I learned how to be kind to
plants and to people.”

“I can’t believe how well ”J” cares for his plants at home.
He really learned a lot through this program.”



MARKET OF
DREAMS REMODEL
Sunnyside Neighborhood Association, Inc.

To re-develop and remodel the new Market of Dreams, a micro-
entrepreneurship and multi-cultural center serving the Sunnyside
Neighborhood. By holistically addressing the social determinants of health, the
MoD focuses on addressing generational poverty among Sunnyside families,
helping them build the resiliency and skills needed to create a sustainable
future for themselves and their families.

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY:  RESILIENCE



ONGOING 40+

150+This is a large project, and it experienced
delays due to the backorder of products. 

To complete community service hours and
provide direct 1:1 mentoring and life coaching
with the SNA board, staff, and volunteers.

PROJECT COMPLETION
SCHEDULED FOR JUNE 2024

BUSINESSES AND ORGANIZATIONS
AND 

WITH COCONINO COUNTY
ADULT PROBATION DEPT.

PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS

INDIVIDUAL VOLUNTEERS ENGAGED

PARTNERED



BIKE RACKS & BENCHES
FOR FLAGSTAFF DISC
GOLF COURSE
Flagstaff Disc Golf Club 

To install bike racks and pine slab benches at both City of Flagstaff disc golf
courses to promote and encourage people to ride their bicycles to the City’s
disc golf courses instead of driving an automobile to advance the city’s goal
of Carbon Neutrality by 2030 and to make the sport of disc golf more
accessible to people from different neighborhoods that do not own vehicles,
allowing them to bike to the City’s disc golf courses more easily. 

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $5,000
CATEGORY:  TRANSPORTATION



ENERGY EFFICIENCY
LIGHTING PROJECT
Harbert Chapel AME Church

To update the external and internal lighting of Harbert Chapel. 
To make the internal lights dark sky-friendly by adding a direct covering.
To make the internal lighting energy efficient to reduce energy usage and
costs. 

PROJECT PURPOSE & GOALS:

AWARD AMOUNT: $1,350
CATEGORY:  BUILDING ENERGY



PROJECT ACCOMPLISHMENTS



THANK YOU
A p p l i c a t i o n s  f o r  t h i s  y e a r ’ s  g r a n t

p r o g r a m  w i l l  o p e n  b y  S e p t .  1 ,  2 0 2 4 .

G r a n t  i n f o r m a t i o n  c a n  b e  f o u n d  a t
f l a g s t a f f . a z . g o v / N S G .


	Agenda
	AI_80058005
	       ATT_Presentation
	April Employee Work Anniversaries!
	First Year Anniversaries
	First Year Anniversaries
	First Year Anniversaries
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14

	AI_7996_Well Sites Modification Contract with Yellow Jacket Drilling, LLC
	       ATT_Contract
	CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT CG2024-171
	City of Flagstaff, Arizona
	and
	Yellow Jacket Drilling Services, LLC
	CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA

	AI_80028002
	       ATT_City Manager Report
	       ATT_PROSE Newsletter
	       ATT_HR Newsletter
	Human Resources/Risk Management
	Employee Spotlight
	What do you do for fun?
	My daily fun activity is to watch new tv shows with my husband since there are so many great ones (we're currently watching Fallout, which I highly recommend!). Otherwise, the things I do for fun when I have time is to eat at new restaurants, play soccer in the Flagstaff Women's League over the summer (which if anyone is interested, contact me! We accept players of all levels), hike in the forest behind my neighborhood with my dog, and take my 3-year-old daughter to fun new places.

	Classification and Compensation
	Recruitment
	System Operators in Water Services
	Parks Maintenance Worker
	Heating
	Up!
	BY THE NUMBERS:
	FY23-24

	Words of Wisdom

	AI_7988_Mountain Line Update to City Council, Transit Tax Election Discussion
	       ATT_Presentation
	Slide Number 1
	Financial and Service Performance Benchmarks
	Peer Agency – Bus
	Peer Agency – Paratransit
	Slide Number 5
	Progress Photos
	DCC Phase 2b Ultimate
	Mountain Line Financial Update
	FY2024 to FY2025 Comparison
	Transit Tax Fund Balance
	Flagstaff in Motion
	Transit Vision
	Flagstaff in Motion - Funding
	Citizen Review Commision
	Survey Outcomes
	Refined Funding
	Recommendation
	Alternatives
	Recommendation
	Slide Number 20

	       ATT_Transit Vision
	       ATT_Ride Guide Map
	AI_7994_FY22-23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Projects Report
	       ATT_FY23 Neighborhood Sustainability Grant Presentation

